Corporate Director (Law and Governance) and

C

Monitoring Officer, T W Mortimer LLB Solicitor

To the Members of the Borough Council
Dear Sir/Madam
Notice of a Meeting, to be held as a Virtual Meeting on Microsoft Teams in accordance
with Regulation 5 of The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus)
(Flexibility of Local Authority and Police Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales)
Regulations 2020 on Thursday 15th October 2020 at 6.00 pm. (PLEASE NOTE
EARLIER STARTING TIME)

IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT THIS VIRTUAL MEETING:Please note the public cannot physically “attend” a Virtual Meeting. However any member of
the press and public may listen-in to proceedings at this ‘virtual’ meeting via a weblink which
will be publicised on the Council’s website at www.ashford.gov.uk at least 24 hours before the
meeting. Members of the press and public may tweet, blog etc. during the live broadcast as
they would be able to during a regular Council meeting at the Civic Centre. It is important,
however, that Councillors can discuss and take decisions without disruption, so the only
participants in this Virtual Meeting will be the Councillors concerned, the Officers advising the
Council and the Officers designated to address the Council on behalf of any members of the
public who have registered in advance to ‘speak’ on the items to be considered. This will take
the place of the usual procedure for public speaking at the Council’s regular meetings at the
Civic Centre. In order to register for this, written notice must be given on the Council’s
website at https://www.ashford.gov.uk/councillors-meetings-and-elections/councillorsandmeetings/public-participation/application-to-speak-at-a-public-meeting/ or by email to
membersservices@ashford.gov.uk by 10am on the Wednesday before the meeting.
Summary of the Scheme of Public Participation for Virtual Meetings (referred to as
“VMs”)
The public cannot physically “attend” a VM.
H.M. Government has recently changed the public’s legal right to attend meetings into a right
to hear, by means of technology, the Councillors attending the VM remotely.
Written notice of a wish to speak (by means of the procedure below) at a VM must be
given, either to membersservices@ashford.gov.uk or on the Council’s website at
https://www.ashford.gov.uk/councillors-meetings-and-elections/councillorsandmeetings/public-participation/application-to-speak-at-a-public-meeting/ by 10:00 hours
on the Wednesday before the VM – i.e. 10:00 a.m. on Wednesday, 14th October 2020.
Those registered to speak must submit to membersservices@ashford.gov.uk by 10:00 hours
on the day of the VM, a copy of their speech in written, legible English. It should be no longer
than 400 words, on a single side of A4 paper, printed in 12-point non-italic sansserif font (e.g.
Arial). Any text above 400 words will not be read out.
Speeches received as above will be read to the VM by a competent Officer for and on behalf
of the speakers, at the normal times and in the normal order during the VM (subject to the
Chairman’s normal discretion).
IMPORTANT:
An Officer reading any speech on behalf of any speaker shall have discretion to omit/edit out
any inappropriate language, information or statements.
If any defamation, insult, personal or confidential information, etc. is contained in any speech
received from any speaker, and/or is read to the VM by an Officer, each speaker accepts by
submitting their speech to be fully responsible for all consequences thereof and to indemnify
the Officer and the Council accordingly.

Yours faithfully

T W Mortimer
Corporate Director (Law and Governance)

Agenda
Page Nos..
1.

Apologies

2.

To consider whether any items should be dealt with in private
because of the likely disclosure of Exempt or Confidential
Information

3.

Declarations of Interest
1.

1-2

To declare any interests which fall under the following categories, as
explained on the attached document:
a)
b)
c)

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI)
Other Significant Interests (OSI)
Voluntary Announcements of Other Interests

See agenda item 3 for further details
4.

To confirm the Minutes of the Council Meeting held on the 16th
July 2020

5.

To receive any announcements from the Mayor, Leader or other
Members of the Cabinet

6.

To receive any petitions

7.

To receive any questions from, and provide answers to, the
public (being resident of the Borough) which in the opinion of the
Mayor are relevant to the business of the Meeting

8.

To receive, consider and adopt the recommendations set out in
the Minutes of the Meetings of the Cabinet held on the 30 July
and 24 September 2020

17 - 34

9.

To receive the Minutes of the Meeting of the Audit Committee
held on the 29 September 2020

35 - 40

10.

To receive, consider and adopt the Minutes of the Meeting of the
Selection and Constitutional Review Committee held on 1
October 2020

41 - 46

3 - 16

11.

Overview and Scrutiny Committee - Annual Report

47 - 54

12.

Consideration of a Petition by the Council

55 - 64

13.

To consider Motions of which Notice has been given pursuant to
Procedure Rule 11

14.

Questions by Members of which Notice has been given pursuant
to Procedure Rule 10
NOTE: - If debate on any item included within this Agenda gives rise to
the need to exclude the press and public due to the likelihood of Exempt
or Confidential information being disclosed the following resolution may
be proposed and seconded and if carried, the press and public will be
requested to leave the meeting for the duration of the debate.
That pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, as
amended, the public be excluded from the meeting during consideration
of this item as it is likely that in view of the nature of the business to be
transacted or the nature of the proceedings that if members of the public
were present there would be disclosure of exempt information hereinafter
specified by reference to the appropriate paragraphs of Schedule 12A to
the Act, where in the circumstances the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.

DS
7 October 2020
Queries concerning this agenda? Please contact Danny Sheppard Telephone (01233)
330349 Email danny.sheppard@ashford.gov.uk
Agendas, Reports and Minutes are available on: www.ashford.gov.uk/committees

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3

Declarations of Interest (see also “Advice to Members” below)
(a)

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) under the Localism Act 2011, relating to items on
this agenda. The nature as well as the existence of any such interest must be declared, and
the agenda item(s) to which it relates must be stated.
A Member who declares a DPI in relation to any item will need to leave the meeting for that
item (unless a relevant Dispensation has been granted).

(b)

Other Significant Interests (OSI) under the Kent Code of Conduct relating to items on this
agenda. The nature as well as the existence of any such interest must be declared, and the
agenda item(s) to which it relates must be stated.
A Member who declares an OSI in relation to any item will need to leave the meeting before
the debate and vote on that item (unless a relevant Dispensation has been granted).
However, prior to leaving, the Member may address the Committee in the same way that a
member of the public may do so.

(c)

Voluntary Announcements of Other Interests not required to be disclosed under (a) and
(b), i.e. announcements made for transparency alone, such as:
 Membership of amenity societies, Town/Community/Parish Councils, residents’ groups or
other outside bodies that have expressed views or made representations, but the Member
was not involved in compiling or making those views/representations, or
 Where a Member knows a person involved, but does not have a close association with
that person, or
 Where an item would affect the well-being of a Member, relative, close associate,
employer, etc. but not his/her financial position.
[Note: Where an item would be likely to affect the financial position of a Member, relative,
close associate, employer, etc.; OR where an item is an application made by a Member,
relative, close associate, employer, etc., there is likely to be an OSI or in some cases a DPI.
ALSO, holding a committee position/office within an amenity society or other outside body, or
having any involvement in compiling/making views/representations by such a body, may give
rise to a perception of bias and require the Member to take no part in any motion or vote.]

Advice to Members on Declarations of Interest:
(a)

Government Guidance on DPI is available in DCLG’s Guide for Councillors, at
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5962/2193362.pdf

(b)

The Kent Code of Conduct was adopted by the Full Council on 19 July 2012,
and a copy can be found in the Constitution alongside the Council’s Good Practice Protocol
for Councillors dealing with Planning Matters. See https://www.ashford.gov.uk/media/2098/z-word5democratic-services-constitution-2019-constitution-of-abc-may-2019-part-5.pdf

(c)

Where a Member declares a committee position or office within, or membership of, an outside
body that has expressed views or made representations, this will be taken as a statement
that the Member was not involved in compiling or making them and has retained an open
mind on the item(s) in question. If this is not the case, the situation must be explained.

If any Member has any doubt about any interest which he/she may have in any item on this
agenda, he/she should seek advice from the Director of Law and Governance and Monitoring
Officer, or from other Solicitors in Legal and
Democracy
as early as possible, and in advance
Page
1
of the Meeting.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item
C 4
Ashford Borough Council
Minutes of a Virtual Meeting of the Ashford Borough Council held on Microsoft
Teams on the 16th July 2020.
Present:
Her Worshipful the Mayor, Councillor J A Webb (Chairman);
Cllrs. Anckorn, Barrett, Mrs Bell, Bell, Blanford, Buchanan, Burgess, Campkin,
Chilton, Clarkson, Clokie, Cornish, Dehnel, Farrell, Feacey, Forest, Harman,
Hayward, T Heyes, Howard, Howard-Smith, Iliffe, Knowles, Krause, Ledger, Link,
Michael, Mulholland, Ovenden, Pauley, Pickering, Rogers, Shorter, Spain, Sparks, C
Suddards, L Suddards, Walder, Wright.
Prior to the commencement of the meeting the Reverend Dr Sue Starkings said
prayers and asked Members to respect a period of silence for Carol Ann Brunger
who was the Borough Council Member for Singleton South from 2003 to 2007 and
Mayoress in 2005/06 to the Mayor Councillor Malcolm Eke, and who had passed
away recently.
Apologies:
Cllrs. B Heyes, Smith, Turner, Ward, Wedgbury, White.
Also Present:
Chief Executive, Director of Law and Governance, Director of Finance and Economy,
Head of Culture, Head of HR and Customer Services, Head of Corporate Policy,
Economic Development and Communications, Head of Corporate Property and
Projects, Principal Solicitor (Strategic Development), Civic Engagement Officer,
Member Services Manager (Operational).

1

Election of Mayor

Councillor Clokie nominated Councillor John Link for election as Mayor of Ashford
Borough Council for the forthcoming municipal year.
This was seconded by Councillor Knowles
Councillor Clokie said it was always an honour to be able to propose a new Mayor
for their worthy and exciting Borough. There were few Councillors better qualified to
be taking up the Office of Mayor than Councillor John Link along with his wife Jill as
Mayoress, who had supported John over all his years of Civic duty. John was
uniquely qualified for the tasks ahead as he had been the Borough Mayor for the
Municipal Year 2008/09, and again in 2014/15. He had also, unlike many previous
Mayors, also been well trained in the arts of ‘Mayorship’ when Town Mayor of
Tenterden, one of Ashford’s crown jewels, for four years from 1991-1994. He was
also one of the Borough’s longest serving Councillors, 44 years in total when taking
into account his 24 years’ service as a Parish and Town Councillor.
Councillor Clokie said that no proposal speech was complete without its traditional
history moments and he was deeply indebted to his former late lamented colleague

Page 3
1

C
160720
Major John Kemp for the following information. Councillor John Link was born with a
bang on the 5th November in the year that: - Doctors had denounced drink driving
tests as ‘unfair’; Southern Rail opened a station to serve Gatwick; Auguste Escoffier,
the chef who invented the peach melba died at the age of 88 in his Swiss home;
Lawrence of Arabia died; Major Atlee was elected as Leader of the Socialist Party;
Jack Hobbs wrote his letter of resignation; Joe Louis married and then later on the
same day knocked out Max Baer in the fourth round! He was obviously keen to get
home! In that year a football commentator declared that English players were not up
to the required standard, so few things had changed over the years! Finally the
Highway Code and Driving Test came in. The main tests were being able to reverse,
stopping and starting on a hill and a compulsory question such as ‘when is it
permitted to sound your horn when stationary?’ The answer – ‘when someone is
about to back in to you!’
He said that there were, however some things colleagues may not know about John.
He was a Great-Grandad twice. He enjoyed walking, which was strange for a man
who had spent his life with all forms of mechanical transport and for many days,
underneath them. However this may have originated from his love for Westmorland
and the Lake District. If John could ever not be found, you should send out the
helicopters and he would be found on The Fells. He had been told that the food and
beer there was quite exceptional, including the cream teas. Probably something to
do with the constant rain there, which we were led to believe from the TV weather
forecasts never stopped! John played cricket in his younger days but unlike many
cricketers he had left that for golf and bowls. Unfortunately the duties of Mayor, as
John may remember, were not conducive to shrinking your handicap! In addition to
all the Tenterden affiliations and Cinque Ports Mayors’ Committee (of which he
would shortly be Chairman), there would now be a whole new sea of voluntary and
leisure organisations in the Borough who would seek him out for a visit. It was
amazing how many there were, somewhere around 800 at the last count.
In concluding Councillor Clokie said he would like to mention John’s “long suffering”
wife, who had for too many years to mention, put up with greasy overalls and smelly
walking socks! Jill would be as charming and graceful a Mayoress as any before her.
She brought with her an experience to the task like no other Consort before her. He
said he would like to nominate Councillor John Link to be the Mayor for the Municipal
Year 2020/21.
Councillor Knowles said it was his immense honour to second the nomination of
Councillor John Link to be Mayor of the Borough of Ashford. He considered he set
the gold standard for the role of the Mayor.
There were no other nominations.
Resolved:
That Councillor John Link be elected Mayor of the Borough of Ashford for the
Municipal Year 2020/21.

2

Declaration of Acceptance of Office by the Mayor

Councillor Link made his Declaration of Acceptance of Office.

Page 4
2

C
160720
There was then a short interlude whilst the new Mayor was robed and invested with
his Chain of Office. Upon his return, His Worshipful the Mayor, Councillor John Link
assumed the Chair.

3

Appointment of Mayor’s Chaplain

His Worshipful the Mayor advised that his Chaplain for the coming year would be his
good friend, the Reverend John Emmott. The Reverend Emmott then said prayers.

4

Vote of Thanks by the Mayor for His Election

His Worshipful the Mayor began by saying that when he was first elected on to the
Ashford Borough Council, he remembered that the then Mayor’s Driver, Richard was
always saying “you’ll be Mayor one day”. He never took much notice of him, but here
he was, about to start his third term of office – what a privilege. He thanked all
Members for their support and encouragement, especially his proposer and
seconder, Councillors Clokie and Knowles. He also wanted to extend a special thank
you to Councillor Jenny Webb for an outstanding year (plus a few extra weeks!)
Particularly during this recent pandemic which had been a very trying time indeed.
He also wanted to thank his wife Jill, the new Mayoress, for once again supporting
him. Together they were looking forward to representing the Borough of Ashford over
the next ten months. He said he felt most honoured to be elected once again and it
gave him the chance to again raise funds for his charities, which he would give more
details of later on. He thanked everyone very much.

5

Vote of Thanks to the Retiring Mayor and Mayor’s
Consort

Councillor Clarkson said it gave him very real pleasure to propose a sincere vote of
thanks to the retiring Mayor, Councillor Jenny Webb and her Consort David.
He said that Councillor Jenny Webb had been a truly excellent First Citizen of the
Borough. Jenny was one of those most special people who set the scene of what the
Council was promoting as a caring Borough. Councillor Webb cared deeply about
people across the entire Borough and she had attended many events, across the
Borough and beyond, and had met many people, but it was not just about merely
attending and meeting people for Jenny. She had also created and promoted many
special events in the Borough, involving people of all ages and walks of life. She had
also brought many of these people into the Civic Centre. Even Covid-19 had not
been able to halt Ashford’s Mayor and First Citizen, and whilst it had been an
interruption, Jenny continued throughout that period and even quite recently had
held a small, socially-distanced, flag raising ceremony to mark Armed Forces Week,
which Councillor Clarkson himself had attended as his first outing of the lockdown
period.
Councillor Clarkson concluded by saying that Jenny and David had been excellent
as the First Citizens of the Borough, and whilst he could go on at length about Jenny
and her achievements and attributes, he just wanted to give her their heartfelt thanks
for a first class Mayoralty.

Page 5
3

C
160720
Councillor Buchanan said it was his very great pleasure to second the vote of thanks
to the retiring Mayor, Councillor Jenny Webb.
It had been a fantastic and interesting year, which was unfortunately, but
understandably, cut rather short due to the Covid-19 pandemic. Looking back at the
Mayor’s Blog and the photos on his own phone, it seemed odd how different normal
life was before lockdown and it all somehow seemed a long while ago.
Councillor Buchanan said that the year had involved all manner of events, including
quite a lot of tree planting ceremonies. It had also been a real treat for him to visit,
with Jenny, three schools in the Borough who had won awards for their Eco garden
designs. When they had visited the schools, the children had seemed more
fascinated by the Mayoral chains, and asked questions such as “do you live in the
White House?”, “how much money does the Mayor get paid?” and “are you the
Queen?” Jenny had easily been able to answer such questions with her natural
sense of humour and gravitas. He had also gone with Jenny and David on the
coach, for the official Civic twinning visit to Bad Münstereifel for five packed days of
activities, as well as receiving their French friends from Fougeres for a long
weekend. Also, who could forget dancing to the ABBA tribute act at the London
Beach Hotel charity fundraiser?
The last time he had seen Jenny in her official capacity, it had been most surreal, not
least because he gatecrashed it! He was going for his normal Monday morning bike
ride with a friend and they always met in the Civic Park. As he rode down Tannery
Lane, in full cycling gear, he saw Sandra (the Mayor’s Driver) and Donna (the
Mayor’s PA) standing on the pavement outside the Civic Centre. So he stopped and
there was Jenny, the Leader, the Chaplain and one person from the British Legion. It
was the Armed Forces Week Flag raising ceremony, which had been not publicised
due to the pandemic. Despite there not being the usual crowds and festivities, it had
still been a moving and important event.
Councillor Buchanan said it had been an honour and privilege to be with Jenny and
David through her Mayoral year. With her natural charm and laughter, you could also
clearly see how very honoured Jenny had been to represent the Borough. He so
seconded the vote of thanks.
The Member Services Manager (Operational) advised that the presentation of
badges and gifts to the Retiring Mayor would take place following the conclusion of
the meeting.

6

Response by the Retiring Mayor

Councillor Webb congratulated Councillor Link on his election as Mayor and thanked
Councillors Clarkson and Buchanan for their moving speeches. She said she would
get them both later!
Despite the premature interruption to her Mayoral year, it had been a wonderful
journey. She and David had been greeted with so much kindness and friendliness
across cultures and societies which had made every event a memory to be
cherished. Little did she know that when choosing and highlighting her charities in
the volunteer sector, her ‘Silent Army’, just what a vital role the voluntary sector
would play in supporting the community during the Covid-19 crisis. Ashford
Volunteer Centre, Homestart, and all of the individuals who volunteered across the

Page 6
4

C
160720
Borough made an enormous contribution to the feeling of security and wellbeing for
residents across the Borough. There was nothing stronger than the heart of a
volunteer. She had also experienced so much joy from working with the Royal
Marines and the Sea Cadets and would continue to publish their local histories and
Albacore story. She was incredibly proud of them, and in particular her Mayor’s
Cadets.
Working closely with Donna Sowerby, the Civic Engagement Officer, had allowed
her the open up the Mayor’s Parlour to so many afternoon teas and to present
certificates of achievement to local individuals, societies and businesses who had all
arrived as strangers, but left as friends. Donna’s enthusiasm and expertise had
made her Mayoral journey a pathway of delight, fun and achievement and she could
not thank her enough. Behind every successful journey was a strong team and she
said she was blessed to have had so many who had helped make the journey such a
delight including many individuals in the Council’s Media Team and Print Room,
particularly Ben Jones – she could not thank them enough for all their support and
help. She also wanted to thank St Michael’s Car Hire and their drivers for their
kindness and attention and wonderful sense of humour which had always been
appreciated by her and David.
Councillor Webb said she also did not want to forget to thank all of those who had
escorted her when David had been unable to, as well as all of the Councillors who
had supported her charity events. Finally she wanted to say a special thank you to
Dr Sue Starkings for stepping in to become her Chaplain and saving the day when
Reverend John Mackenzie had moved away to a new Parish. She looked forward to
continuing to work with both her and the Sea Cadets in the future.
She thanked everyone for their support in helping make her Mayoral Year such a
special and rewarding one. She wished John and Jill a happy year going forward and
she knew they would receive the same warmth and friendship that they had been
fortunate enough to have from the Borough of Ashford this past year.
The Member Services Manager (Operational) advised that the presentation of gifts to
the new Mayoress would take place following the conclusion of the meeting.

7

Election and Appointment of Deputy Mayor

Councillor Pickering proposed that “Councillor Callum Knowles be elected Deputy
Mayor of the Borough of Ashford for the forthcoming Municipal year”.
This was seconded by Councillor Feacey.
There were no other nominations.
Resolved:
That Councillor Callum Knowles be elected Deputy Mayor of the Borough of
Ashford for the Municipal Year 2020/21.

8

Declaration of Acceptance of Office by the Deputy
Mayor

Councillor Knowles made his Declaration
of Acceptance
of Office.
Page
7
5

C
160720
The Member Services Manager (Operational) advised that Councillor Knowles would
formally sign the declaration and he and the Deputy Mayoress would be presented
with badges and gifts at a later date.

9

Declarations of Interest

Councillor

Interest

Buchanan

Made a Voluntary Announcement as a member
of the Stour Centre gym.

14, 19

Chilton

Made a Voluntary Announcement that the
School where he was Chair of Governors had a
service agreement with the Stour Centre.

14, 19

Feacey

Made a Voluntary Announcement as Chairman
of the Ashford Volunteer Centre.

14, 16

C Suddards

Made a Voluntary Announcement as a
Governor of St Mary’s School.

14, 19

Webb

Made a Voluntary Announcement as a Director
of the Ashford Volunteer Centre.

14, 16

10

Minute No.

Minutes

Resolved:
That the Minutes of the Meeting of the Council held on the 5th March 2020 be
approved and confirmed as a correct record.

11

Announcements

His Worshipful the Mayor advised that the key focus for his year in office was to work
with local charities, groups and individuals on the wellbeing of communities across
the Borough, and particularly during this time of insecurity and uncertainty. As the
new Mayor, he wished to provide something positive towards supporting those
principles. Therefore, for his time in office he would be supporting the following three
charities: - Ashford Street Pastors; Parkinson’s Ashford; and Tenterden Memory
Café.
Since 2010, Ashford Street Pastors had been patrolling the streets of Ashford
throughout the nights over the busy evenings of Fridays and Saturdays. The group of
caring volunteers provided a peaceful presence on the night-time streets by caring
for, listening to and helping vulnerable people. These may be under the influence of
drugs or alcohol or homeless of disorientated by mental illness, or simply young, or
lost, or lonely. The charity helped people on the streets and other public places by
giving guidance, support or signposting them to other support services. They ensured
people were safe and for people who needed assistance or a listening ear, the team
members were there for them. The charity assisted people to ensure that those in
need could get home safely by offering help and guidance or they referred people to
local emergency or support services. This
worthwhile
charity directly benefited the
Page
8
6

C
160720
local community as their positive actions helped to reduce Anti-Social Behaviour,
minimised exploitation, decreased abuse, avoided violence, relieved sickness and
preserved health.
The Parkinson’s Ashford branch had around 120 members on its membership list
and on average, 60 different people attended each course during the month.
Parkinson’s Ashford provided a wide range of activities. This important service
offered information, friendship and support to local people who were suffering with
Parkinson’s, their families and carers. All of whom needed vital support. The branch
organised a range of events and social activities, including regular get-togethers
where there was mutual support and a chance for a chat and a cuppa, exercise
classes, singing groups, the lunch club, the Parkinson’s Café and the carers group to
name but a few! There were excursions and special activities such as the bowls
days, the annual garden party and the Christmas tea party.
Tenterden Memory Café was a volunteer led organisation that had been in existence
for four years. They currently had approximately 60 people attending and they were
recognised by the Charity Commission as a Charitable Incorporated Organisation.
The café was originally located in the buffet at Tenterden Railway Station, and after
two years the numbers rose by so much that it was necessary to relocate to a bigger
hall. They were now at St Andrew’s Catholic Church Community Hall which met their
needs in every way, with the group meeting there every Friday afternoon. Their aim
was to provide an informal setting for those people living with dementia and dementia
related illnesses, their families and carers. The café provided tea and cakes – most
cakes were made and donated by volunteers. Volunteers engaged with those living
with dementia, allowing carers to interact with others in similar situations. The carers,
many of whom were elderly themselves with their own medical and physical issues,
shared experiences and coping mechanisms and were able to have a “normal
conversation” with friends. The café linked with the local Junior School and the local
Nursery to encourage engagement with young people. They also provided monthly
musical afternoons (involving the guests in singing and playing musical instruments)
and they also had film events too. Excursions took place to local attractions such as
the Rare Breeds Centre and short breaks to Eastbourne.
So in summary, the Mayor said that it would be an interesting time for his fundraising
programme of events and activities. It would be somewhat different than planned for
the first few months but he was looking forward to using this time to get out and
about in the community, meeting representatives of his charities, visiting some of the
excellent projects in the area and arranging civic visits to the Ashford Borough with
the Lord Lieutenant, High Sheriff and Chairman of Kent County Council. He trusted
he could count on Members’ support.

12

Confirmation of Cabinet Arrangements for 2020/21 by
the Leader of the Council

The Leader of the Council, Councillor Clarkson, confirmed that the make-up of his
Cabinet for 2020/21 would be as follows:Member

Portfolio

Deputy Portfolio Holder

Clarkson

Leader (including Corporate
Policy, Ec Dvpt and Comms)
Deputy Leader (including
Page 9

N/A

Bartlett

7

N/A

C
160720
Barrett
Bell
Buchanan
Clokie
Feacey
Forest
Pickering
Shorter

Legal and Democracy)
Housing
Finance and IT
Environment and Land
Management
Regeneration and Corporate
Property
Community Safety and
Wellbeing
Culture, Tourism and Leisure
HR and Customer Services
Planning and Development

Mulholland
Krause
Howard
Iliffe
Howard-Smith
Webb
Mrs Bell
Blanford

The Leader said he also wanted to briefly mention a topical issue. The Department
for Transport had recently informed the Council that they had acquired the Mojo Site
at Sevington, just off Junction 10A of the M20, with the intention of using only the
western part (the area covered by existing planning consent). He understood that it
was not the Government’s plan to develop this area as a permanent lorry park, but
their interest was twofold. Firstly for it to be available as a contingency for lorry
holding, but only during the end of the transition period for the exit from the EU
where there may be significant disruption, and secondly other Government
departments envisaged using it on a more permanent basis for facilities related to
future border processing – notably HMRC for goods movement under transit and
DEFRA for a border control post. He advised that he had made it very clear to
Government, as had Ashford’s MP Damian Green, and his Deputy Leader, that they
were absolutely opposed to any suggestion that a permanent lorry park be
established in this rural location of their Borough. The Minister in question had
indicated that it was not the Government’s intention to do so and the Leader had this
in writing.
Councillor Farrell said he had listened to the Minister Michael Gove just this morning
on this issue, and asked as a point of information what the Leader considered were
the differences between a lorry park and a lorry holding pen, because he considered
these were exactly the same thing. The Leader responded that he did not want to get
in to a discussion about the different meaning of words used by different Ministers,
but he said that he understood a permanent lorry park would be one that would hold
several thousand lorries, and it had been made clear that this was not in any way
something that they would support and they would defend Ashford against it. He
considered they should be very guarded about the language and phrases that were
used and it would be inappropriate to comment further on that at this stage.
Councillor Chilton said he had also heard Michael Gove (the Chancellor of the Duchy
of Lancaster and Minister for the Cabinet Office) earlier that morning indicate that the
site would indeed be used as a lorry park. Indeed a spokesman for the Department
for Transport was also quoted in today’s Guardian as saying “the site may also be
used as a contingency lorry area”, so in his view the indication from Government was
pretty clear – they did see it as a lorry park. Given that there had been no
consultation by the Department for Transport, he asked what the Council was going
to do to ensure that the people of Ashford’s voices were going to be listened to on
this issue. The Leader responded that what Councillor Chilton had said was at odds
with what he understood the position to be. During the transition period, it may be the
case that lorries were held there, but he could only take on face value what had been
put to him and this was that it would not be a permanent lorry park.

Page 10
8

C
160720

13

Selection and Constitutional Review Committee – 30th
June 2020

Councillor Clarkson proposed that “the Minutes of the Selection and Constitutional
Review Committee meeting held on the 30th June 2020 be approved and adopted”.
This was seconded.
Resolved:
That the Minutes of the Meeting of the Selection and Constitutional Review
Committee held on the 30th June 2020 be approved and adopted.

14

Cabinet – 28th May and 25th June 2020

(a)

Cabinet – 28th May 2020

Councillor Spain referred to Minute No. 409 which referred to the Recovery Delivery
Plan. He had kindly been shown an early draft of the plan and had discussed it with
the Deputy Leader and he did have concerns that despite assurances about the
Bockhanger Community facilities, these were not referred to in the latest draft. The
Council unanimously committed to these about a year ago and he did not consider
that the proposed community involvement scheme run by a consultancy, should
have led to the Council removing its commitment to community facilities from the
Recovery Plan. He asked from some reassurance for the people of North Ashford
from the Leader that the Council remained committed to providing a 21st Century
community facility in that location to serve the residents of Bockhanger and Bybrook
as well as Kennington and the wider North Ashford area? Could he also reassure
that a commitment to the Bockhanger community facility would be placed back in to
that Recovery Plan document so that this facility could play a major part in Ashford’s
social, health and economic recovery. The Leader responded that he could
categorically say that this Council had at its heart the welfare of a number of less
affluent areas of the Borough. The Plan as discussed would not be confined to any
particular areas. In particular on the Bockhanger community facilities, the Council
awaited the results of the Community Council’s deliberations, and this Council stood
by to help as much as it was able.
Councillor Anckorn also referred to Minute No. 409 and the Recovery Delivery Plan
and asked about Eurostar services and their recent decision to cease services to
and from Ashford International Station until further notice. He asked what efforts the
Council was making to engage with Eurostar to get those services resumed for the
important economic, employment and tourism connectivity that Ashford’s rail links
provided. The Leader responded that he was surprised Councillor Anckorn had
raised this issue at this juncture as this was something that he could have easily
raised at any time with himself, or indeed the Council’s Economic Development team
and received a full answer. He could advise that the Ashford Strategic Delivery
Board included representatives of the rail network, and they were working with them
constantly on resumption of services. If Councillor Anckorn would like to discuss this
further outside the meeting, he would be more than happy to do so. He wanted to
assure that all were keen for not only normal services to be resumed, but that they
were enhanced and improved - they were very active in that area.

Page 11
9

C
160720
Councillor Bartlett, as seconder, had reserved the right to speak and said that he
wanted to briefly mention the benefits that the Council expected from the community
engagement project that was being carried out. He believed it was crucial to
breaking down barriers and enabling all residents to live safe and secure lives and to
generate truly sustainable change. The aim was to break down barriers to social
interaction and part of that was to improve community facilities such as those
mentioned in Bockhanger. There were real tangible benefits to this process such as
a reduction in violence, domestic abuse, anti-social behaviour and a decrease in
those having to make use of Community Safety services. It was hoped that this
approach could deliver many benefits across many parts of the Borough.
Resolved:
That (i)

(ii)
(b)

the Minutes of the Meeting of the Cabinet held on the 28th May
2020 be received and noted with the exception of Minute Nos.
405, 406, 407 and 409
Minute Nos. 405, 406, 407 and 409 be approved and adopted.

Cabinet – 25th June 2020

The Leader of the Council proposed that these Minutes be approved and adopted or
noted as appropriate, with the exception of Minute No. 436 “Leisure Operations
Update” which he proposed be dealt with separately in private session at the end of
the meeting.
This was seconded.
Councillor Farrell said he wanted to raise the issue of the Stour Centre at this public
meeting of the Council. Whilst he understood the provisions of the Local Government
Act 1972, given the nature of the proposals, in his view they should be discussed in
public so that the residents of Ashford could view the discussion. The Director of Law
and Governance advised that it was recommended that the item should be dealt with
in private because of the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the
Local Government Act, but that would be a matter for the Council to decide when
considering the resolution to hear the matter in private later in the Meeting.
Resolved:
That (i)

the Minutes of the Meeting of the Cabinet held on the 25th June
2020 be received and noted with the exception of Minute Nos. 435,
436 and 437.

(ii)

Minute Nos. 435 and 437 be approved and adopted.

(iii)

the recommendations in Minute No. 436 be deferred for
consideration later in the Meeting.

Page 12
10

C
160720

15

Audit Committee – 17th March 2020

Resolved:
That the Minutes of the Meeting of the Audit Committee held on the 17th March
2020 be received and noted.

16

Decision Making During the Coronavirus Crisis

The Leader introduced the report which advised of two decisions to amend the
Council’s Constitution taken by the Chief Executive in April 2020, under her
delegated authority for urgent matters. These were reported to the Council for noting
and ratification. The report also advised of some further recommended changes to
the Council’s Constitution. The aim of these was to enable the Council to continue its
decision making effectively, with public participation notwithstanding the impacts of
the Coronavirus Crisis. He said that the Coronavirus Crisis had certainly been a
trying period for many organisations across the globe and he thought that the
Ashford Borough had responded to this dreadful crisis in an exemplary way to assist
in ensuring the welfare and safety of residents.
Councillor Chilton said he did want to make a quick comment on Virtual Meetings.
During the crisis it had become apparent that the number of families who still did not
have access to a computer or the internet was higher than originally thought. He
knew that the Council may have to continue operating in this way for some time, but
it did mean that some people may not be able to engage in local democracy in the
normal way. He asked what measures could be taken to ensure that those on the
lowest incomes were still able to access Council meetings in the spirit of openness
and democracy? The Leader said he understood the Council had made a great deal
of effort to reach all people during this pandemic, but he understood the question
and would take his comments away for further discussion with colleagues and
Officers.
Councillor Campkin asked if fellow Councillors would join him in paying particular
tribute to the Council Officers and staff and workers who had been doing an amazing
job over the last four months. He knew many had been doubling up on various duties
and having to adapt to new ways of working and a lot of them were under a great
deal of stress at the moment, so he thought they deserved a special mention. The
Mayor and Leader both said that they certainly agreed with this sentiment.
Councillor Buchanan said he did just want to add his thanks to both Biffa and Aspire.
Biffa had been working at Christmas week capacity since the start of lockdown and
there hadn’t been any degradation in service whatsoever, with all services (including
bulk and garden waste collections) running throughout. Aspire too had done an
amazing job keeping everything looking neat and tidy and clean as well as assisting
with other areas of work.
Resolved:
That (i)

the Chief Executive’s Urgency decisions dated 8th April 2020 and
20th April 2020, described in paragraphs 13-19 and 20-29 of the
report respectively be noted and ratified.

Page 13
11

C
160720
(ii)

17

the Supplement to Procedure Rules for Virtual Meetings etc. (at
Annex 4 to the report), and the Supplement to the Scheme of
Public Participation for Virtual Meetings (at Annex 5 to the report)
be adopted with immediate effect and effective until the end of
May 2021. Their operation be agreed to be reviewed as part of the
review of the Procedure for Virtual Meetings etc. and the Scheme
of Public Participation for Virtual Meetings, as decided by the
Chief Executive on the 20th April 2020.

Request for an Extension of Period of Absence –
Councillor Ward

The report considered a request for an extended period of absence for Councillor
Ward under the provisions of Sections 85 and 86 of the Local Government Act 1972.
Councillor Chilton said that colleagues would remember Councillor Ward had been
suffering with mobility issues since before Christmas and Members would have seen
him attending Meetings in his wheelchair and with a walker. Unfortunately, since
then it had become apparent what the physical mobility issues were, and it was
Motor Neurone disease. This was a very cruel and evil disease and it had rendered
his friend and colleague Alex Ward unable to physically attend meetings and given
him severe problems with communicating. He was in full control of his faculties and
perfectly able to do ward work, but unfortunately the equipment he needed to help
him communicate and get around had got stuck in the United States due to the
Covid pandemic and was currently unable to be brought to the UK to be fitted out in
the appropriate way. Alex continued to serve his ward and he would continue to do
so despite the terrible disease he had been struck down with. He wanted to thank
the colleagues who had been aware of this so far and the support they had given, in
particular the Chief Executive and the Leader for accommodating tonight’s report.
Councillor Ward was watching the meeting tonight from his home in Tenterden and
he knew all colleagues would wish him well.
The Mayor and Leader both said that they certainly wished Councillor Ward and his
family well.
Resolved:
That the request be granted and the period of absence be extended to the 31st
December 2020.

18

Exclusion of the Public

In accordance with Procedure Rule 15.4 Councillor Farrell asked that a recorded
vote be taken on the decision to exclude the public from the meeting. This was
supported by at least six other Members (i.e. a total of at least seven) who showed
their support by indicating in the chat function of the Virtual Meeting.
A recorded vote was then taken on the decision to exclude the public from the
meeting and the Members voted as follows: For: Councillors Barrett, Bartlett, Mrs Bell, Bell, Blanford, Buchanan, Burgess,
Clarkson, Clokie, Cornish, Feacey, Forest, Howard, Howard-Smith, Iliffe, Knowles,
Krause, Link, Mulholland, Pickering,Page
Shorter,14
Walder, Webb,
12

C
160720
Votes For - 23
Against: Councillors Anckorn, Campkin, Chilton, Farrell, Hayward, T Heyes, Ledger,
Ovenden, Pauley, Rogers, Spain, Sparks, C Suddards, L Suddards, Wright
Votes Against - 15
Abstentions: Councillors Harman, Michael.
Abstentions – 2
Absent: Councillor Dehnel
Absent - 1
Resolved:
That pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, as
amended, the public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the
following item as it is likely that in view of the nature of the business to be
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the public were
present there would be disclosure of exempt information hereinafter specified
by reference to paragraphs 1 and 3 of Schedule 12A to the Act, where in the
circumstances the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the
public interest in disclosing the information.

19

Minute No. 436 – Leisure Operations Update

The Council consider Minute No. 436 of the Cabinet Meeting of the 25th June 2020
which had been deferred earlier in the Meeting. (Minute No 14 (b) refers).
Councillor Forest, Portfolio Holder for Culture, Leisure and Tourism, introduced this
item and the Cabinet recommendations. He referred to the petition which had been
submitted to the Council on this subject earlier that day and other objections
received, and explained the rationale behind the Cabinet recommendations.
There followed a long debate with various Members making statements and asking
questions on the exempt papers and recommendations. These were responded to
by the Portfolio Holder.
Resolved:
That Minute No. 436 be approved and adopted.

___________________________________________________________________
Queries concerning these Minutes? Please contact Member Services
Telephone: 01233 330349 Email: membersservices@ashford.gov.uk
Agendas, Reports and Minutes are available on: https://ashford.moderngov.co.uk

Page 15
13

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
CA
Published
August 2020
Decisions effective from the 12th August 2020 unless they are called in or are
recommended to the Council for approval
4th

Cabinet
Minutes of a Virtual Meeting of the Cabinet held on Microsoft Teams on the 30th July
2020.
Present:
Cllr. Clarkson (Chairman);
Cllr. Bartlett (Vice-Chairman);
Cllrs. Barrett, Bell, Buchanan, Clokie, Feacey, Forest, Pickering, Shorter.
Apologies:
Cllrs. Cornish, Ovenden.
Also Present:
Cllrs. Anckorn, Burgess, Chilton, Harman, Hayward, Howard-Smith, Krause, Smith,
Spain, Sparks, C Suddards, L Suddards, Turner, Walder.
In attendance:
Director of Finance and Economy, Head of Finance and IT, Head of Corporate
Policy, Economic Development and Communications, Head of Personnel and
Development, Head of Community Safety and Wellbeing, Head of Environment and
Land Management, Head of Culture, Head of Housing, Head of Corporate Property
and Projects, Economic Development Manager, Environmental Contracts and
Enforcement Manager, Principal Solicitor (Strategic Development), Environmental
Protection and Licensing Team Leader, Team Leader – Spatial Planning, Senior
Accountant (LF), Economic Development Officer, Senior Communications Officer,
Member Services Manager (Operational).
Prior to the commencement of the meeting Members respected a period of silence
for Councillor Alex Ward, one of the Borough Council Members for the Beaver Ward
who had passed away recently.

20

Declarations of Interest

Councillor

Interest

Minute No.

Feacey

Made a Voluntary Announcement as Chairman
of the Ashford Volunteer Centre.

Page
15 17

24

CA
300720

21

Minutes

Resolved:
That the Minutes of the Meeting of the Cabinet held on the 25th June 2020 be
approved and confirmed as a correct record.

22

Leader’s Announcements

The Leader said that he had read with interest that the local media had been
constantly been referring to developments at the Mojo Site in Sevington as a ‘lorry
park’. He wanted to place on record that this was not the intention of the
Government. It would be used by the HMRC and DEFRA as a border control
checkpoint, and it was important to make people aware of that misinformation. He
and the Deputy Leader had had a very useful meeting earlier that day with
Government officials and KCC and they wanted to ensure that this development did
not adversely affect Ashford and its residents.

23

Financial Outturn 2019/20

The Portfolio Holder introduced the report which presented the outturn revenue
position for the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account for the 2019/20
financial year. It also presented the capital outturn for capital works and how these
had been financed, the Collection Fund position, reserve transfers and a treasury
management update. He also drew attention to the Tabled Paper which included an
additional recommendation on Pavement Licensing and the correction of errors to
Paragraph 4 of the report following the PDF conversion of the agenda.
The Portfolio Holder said that whilst 2019/20 was a typically good year in budgetary
terms and reserves had been increased, he did not want to dwell for too long on this
report as the financial year ended just as the effects of the coronavirus pandemic
began to hit, which had presented well known challenges to the finances of the
Council.
There was a lengthy debate about the proposed fee for Pavement Licensing, with
some Members asking if, for the sake of a few hundred pounds, this could be waived
given the current economic circumstances many small businesses in this sector
found themselves in. It would be important to support businesses, and a zero fee for
a short period of time would send out a good message to the sort of food and drink
businesses that the Council wanted to survive and thrive around the Borough. It was
explained that the proposed fee was a modest one of £100. The Council was not
expecting a high number of new applications, however the fee would probably not
even cover the administration and enforcement costs. It was also significantly less
than the previous regime administered by KCC and the process would be much
easier and more streamlined for businesses going forward. A concern was raised
that a zero fee may also lead to a number of more spurious applications, all of which
would place additional pressure on the team to administer. The Leader considered it
was worth reiterating that businesses had already received a lot of support from the
Government and the Council, but the Council had to be realistic on what it could

Page
1618

CA
300720
offer. On balance the Cabinet agreed to leave the recommendation on Pavement
Licensing as it was.
In response to a question about the Council’s current wider financial position,
Members were advised that the forecast loss of income to the Council was
somewhere in the region of £6m. At the present time, the Council had received just
under £2m in funding from the Government in response to the effects of the
pandemic. This had all been detailed in previous reports to the Cabinet and the wider
context would be reported in full in the Cabinet’s Medium Term Financial Plan report
in the Autumn, prior to the Budget Scrutiny process.
Resolved:
That (i)

the financial outturn for 2019/20 be noted.

(ii)

the Capital Outturn, Collection Fund position and Treasury
Management update be noted.

(iii)

the reserve movement transfers as per Table 5 of the report be
approved.

Recommended:
That (i)

delegations be given to the Head of Environment and Land
Management to set fees and charges as necessary for external
work provided by Aspire.

(ii)

a fee of £100 be set for Pavement Licensing in accordance with
the Business and Planning Act 2020.

24

Recovery Plan 2020

The Leader introduced the report which presented the Council’s draft Recovery Plan
2020. The Plan set out the Council’s approach to making a timely and successful
recovery from the impact of the coronavirus pandemic. The Plan reflected the difficult
and challenging times ahead and the opportunities that were arising as the Council
recovered from the pandemic as an organisation and a local leader. He explained
that Officers had worked extremely hard to pull this document together and it looked
to embrace the recovery, but also to integrate that into building a stronger local
economy, focus on the green agenda and a pledge to achieve carbon neutrality, and
detail everything the Council was doing to provide a vibrant Borough for the future.
The plan had been developed in consultation with a wide range of stakeholders and
there would be strong control and monitoring mechanisms with a Monitoring and
Advisory Board chaired by the Deputy Leader. This would be meeting bi-monthly and
report to the Cabinet and Full Council regularly, as well as the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee and meetings with Group Leaders.
The Deputy Leader said he wanted to speak in support of the Plan and draw out the
importance of the work that was planned or already underway. The Plan included a
series of very tangible benefits for the Borough, not least in terms of community

Page
17 19

CA
300720
recovery. All would be aware of the community spirit demonstrated during the
pandemic, but new partnerships would have to be created and it would be
dangerous to assume that the positive energy to come out of the pandemic would
continue without work. This was demonstrated by the community recovery projects
set out in Section 6.2 of the Plan, for example the projects at Bockhanger and
Beaver. He also drew particular attention to the support provided by the Lifeline
service and the progress towards providing temporary accommodation at Henwood
as well as the existing Christchurch House scheme.
Members asked about targets, priorities and performance indicators. It was
explained there were a series of actions and Key Performance Indicators under each
of the four themes in the Plan. The corporate suite of KPIs, which were monitored on
a regular basis, had been embedded in to the Plan. It was a robust Plan with key
measurements embedded and it would be coming back to Members on a quarterly
basis. The Ward Member for Bockhanger considered that the Plan must have
specific targets and measures against each individual priority action if those
analysing the data, including residents, were to understand where the Council was in
its recovery. This would be extremely important. The Head of Corporate Policy,
Economic Development and Communications said she was pleased to advise that
work had been done on action planning and setting KPI targets and milestones
against every action in the Recovery Plan. This was a level of detail which was felt a
little too much for this particular report, but she would be happy to share that with the
Member concerned outside of the meeting.
On the community recovery section, a Member considered there were some “easy
wins” around majoring on community facilities across the Borough. These could
deliver income generation, equalities objectives, carbon reduction and job creation
by way of units for start-up businesses, and there was a real opportunity for the
Council to make a difference if this was specifically included in the Recovery Plan.
The Leader responded that much was already happening by way of community
facility improvements but they had to be realistic and it would not be possible to
provide new facilities across the Borough as part of a Recovery Plan where the focus
should be on helping to get the economy back on track. The Portfolio Holder for
Culture, Leisure and Tourism advised that it was important to point out that
community facilities and spaces were not just about physical buildings. Buildings
were obviously vital, but the Council was also providing and investing in other
community spaces including at some of the bigger projects at Victoria Park,
Conningbrook Park and Discovery Park. It was important to note that projects such
as these would live on in the community and for the Council. The Council provided a
lot of advice to third parties and any groups that wanted to come forward with ideas
on how they could form community groups and facilities would be welcomed.
A Member said he was concerned about an absence in the Plan of measures to
address a possible second ‘spike’ of the virus later in 2020, or the possibility of a
localised lockdown for Ashford or East Kent. The Leader responded that whilst it was
difficult to make predictions about what would happen, there had been many
discussions about second waves and localised outbreaks and they had certainly
‘hoped for the best, but planned for the worst’. The Council had its ACER Committee
which could be re-convened at short notice and they continued to work closely with
KCC and the Kent Resilience Forum (including the emergency services and the

Page
1820

CA
300720
Government) so there was no chance that the Council would be caught by surprise.
The Head of Community Safety and Wellbeing advised that the Council’s response
work on Covid-19 had not stopped and would run alongside the Recovery Plan. She
stated that the Council’s Business Continuity Management Team continued to meet
twice a week to address the ongoing Covid-19 situation. There were additional plans
in place to deal with potential local lockdowns/outbreaks and response work was
continuing separately behind the scenes.
A Member questioned why the report indicated that there were no negative equality
impacts highlighted from the Covid-19 outbreak? The Head of Corporate Policy,
Economic Development and Communications clarified that there were no negative
equality impacts identified in terms of the actions included within the Recovery Plan.
This assessment did not refer to the impact of the outbreak.
There was a discussion around potential ‘digital exclusion’ and the negative impact
on the elderly, disabled, poor, or those in rural areas, of moving more services
digitally, when those people did not have access to good quality broadband or may
not have the necessary skills to participate. A Member considered there should be
more reference to this in the Recovery Plan and she worried about the challenges
and barriers that were potentially being placed in front of some people as everything
moved towards a more digital age. The Leader said that whilst he sympathised with
the comments made, he considered the Council was doing everything it could in this
regard. There were reports later on this agenda about broadband and a Fibre to the
Premises Supplementary Planning Document. This was a caring Council which had
already led on things outside of this Plan like space standards, ‘Changing Places’
toilets for the disabled and being aware that digital solutions were not the panacea
for all, so they had clearly demonstrated their commitment to inclusion and
equalities. The Head of Corporate Policy, Economic Development and
Communications advised that the Plan did also contain some design principles
around meeting customer needs in the future and ensuring services were accessible
for all, and these had been embedded in to the Plan.
The Portfolio Holder for Housing provided an update on some of the measures the
General Fund was undertaking to support the Housing Revenue Account and its
homelessness position in the current situation.
Resolved:
That (i)

delegated authority be given to the Chief Executive, in
consultation with the relevant Portfolio Holder, and the Recovery
and Monitoring Group, to vary the delivery plan programme in
order to expedite a timely response to changing circumstances to
support the recovery of local residents, communities and
businesses.

(ii)

the Chief Executive be authorised, in consultation with the Leader
of the Council and the relevant Portfolio Holder, to commence
delivery of the Recovery Plan prior to it being recommended for
adoption at Full Council in October.

Page
19 21

CA
300720
(iii)

the reallocation of Business Rate Pool funding (Economic
Growth) from the Town Centre framework projects to the focus on
the economic recovery priorities within the Recovery Plan
delivery, be noted.

(iv)

the long term ambition for the Borough be noted and agreed.

(v)

the Ashford Ambition Report (Shaping a Prosperous, Sustainable
and Inclusive Future for the Borough in 2030 and Beyond) be
noted as the evidence base for the forthcoming Corporate Plan.

Recommended:
That the Recovery Plan be adopted as the main strategic document of the
Council for the next 18 months.

25

Broadband Update

The Portfolio Holder introduced the report which analysed the latest data on fixed
and mobile telecommunications access within the Borough. It updated Members on
the activities undertaken to attract investment and improve infrastructure within the
Borough by private sector operators - in particular the implementation of Policy
EMP6 within the Ashford Local Plan. The report also set out the potential areas to
prioritise moving forward and the importance of broadband and telecommunications
infrastructure within the Council’s Recovery Plan. He particularly drew attention to
Paragraphs 26 and 27 of the report which detailed the future priorities and risk
assessment, and he thanked Officers for producing a terrific report.
Resolved:
That (i)

the content of the report and the broadband work undertaken in
recent years be noted.

(ii)

it be noted that the delivery of broadband is a key priority in the
Council’s Recovery Plan.

26

Commercial Services Strategy

The Leader introduced the report which advised that a Commercial Services Delivery
Strategy was required to assist in addressing the financial challenges currently
facing the Council, which had intensified as a result of the coronavirus pandemic.
The strategy was intended to provide a consistent approach and approved guidance
for Councillors and Officers to work within, and would be supported by an annual
delivery plan, detailing specific work programmes and projects to help achieve the
commercial service ambitions. These ambitions were designed to support the overall
service delivery of the Council and were an integral part of the wider Recovery Plan.
He advised of a correction to the report in that he would be the Portfolio Holder for
Commercialisation rather than the Portfolio Holder for Finance and IT.

Page
2022

CA
300720
The Portfolio Holder for Finance and IT said the key to this would not be in process
but very much in delivery and generating income. He thanked the Head of
Environment and Land Management for producing such a good report.
Resolved:
That (i)
(ii)

27

the contents of the report be noted.
the Commercial Services Delivery Strategy be adopted.

Ashford Health and Wellbeing Partnership - Annual
Report 2019/20

The Portfolio Holder introduced the report which highlighted some of the Ashford
Health and Wellbeing Partnership’s activity during 2019/20 to improve the health and
wellbeing of the Borough’s residents. He outlined some of the highlights, including
Ashford’s smoking rate being more than halved in just one year which was a
phenomenal achievement. There continued to be significant challenges, both now
and in to the future, however these were recognised and the report showed the
excellent work that was already happening and being driven forward by the
Partnership. He wanted to recognise the work of Officers, Cabinet colleagues and
partners for driving this agenda forward.
The Leader said the report was a positive one and it was worth dwelling on the
reduction in smoking from 21.5% of adults in the Borough to 10.1%. Ultimately this
was saving lives. In addition it was worth emphasising the One You Shop in Ashford
Town Centre - a one of a kind facility which had already expanded once and had
been so successful in dealing with a number of issues, including the aforementioned
smoking reduction. The Council would also be investigating the possibilities of asking
the One You Shop to assist where elderly residents were currently having problems
accessing their GP practices remotely.
The Deputy Leader said that the point on digital access for consultations was well
made. The NHS, through both GPs and the hospitals, were clearly going to make
more use of electronic and remote consultations/appointments and whilst in his view
this was the way forward and there were huge advantages to this in terms of
efficiencies, there would also be a role for the One You Shop and others to help
people understand those facilities.
A Member asked that, given the success of One You in the Town Centre, would it be
desirable to roll similar facilities out to other areas of the town, perhaps based in
existing Community Centres. Another Member suggested that perhaps some of the
larger GP surgeries around the Borough could sub-contract a One You type service.
The Leader responded that whilst he understood the sentiment, these were
expensive facilities and the Council had to work in tandem with health professionals
from the NHS and others and focus on its own recovery. Ashford already had the
only facility of this type in the country and it involved an enormous amount of work,
resources and commitment, so it may be unrealistic to expect more in other locations
around the Borough. Caution also had to be guarded against taking on too many

Page
21 23

CA
300720
responsibilities for health issues as the Borough Council. They could work with,
facilitate and signpost, but they could not take on the roles and responsibilities of GP
surgeries and the Health Authority in general. A Member said there were a number
of people who were interested in getting the message of One You out across the
Borough and it need not be an expensive exercise. It would be more about getting
the parties together to devise a way of using existing resources and facilities. The
Portfolio Holder reassured Members that this was a goal of the Partnership going
forward.
Resolved:
That (i)

the achievements made by the Ashford Health and Wellbeing
Partnership in 2019/20 be noted.

(ii)

the changing sub-regional and regional health and wellbeing
arrangements be noted.

(iii)

the work being undertaken by the Ashford Health and Wellbeing
Partnership as part of the Council’s Recovery Plan be noted.

28

Fibre to the Premises Supplementary Planning
Document (SPD) - Adoption

The Portfolio Holder introduced the report which proposed adoption of a Fibre to the
Premises SPD to provide advice and guidance for applications relevant to adopted
Local Plan Policy EMP6 (Promotion of Fibre to the Premises (FTTP)) for the
purposes of decision making on planning applications. Adoption had been
recommended by the Local Plan and Planning Policy Task Group and the report
summarised the comments received following the Council’s consultation on the draft
FTTP SPD, detailing the recommended response. He proposed a minor addition to
the recommendation to Council to allow for minor editorial changes to be made to
the document, and he wanted to particularly thank Councillor Callum Knowles for his
previous input on this matter and the Officers involved in bring this forward.
Resolved:
That the responses to the representations received and changes made to the
SPD contained within Appendix 1 to the report be noted.
Recommended:
That the Fibre to the Premises Supplementary Planning Document as conatind
at Appendix 2 to the report be adopted, with authority delegated to the Spatial
Planning Manager, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Planning and
Development, to make any minor changes of an editorial or clarification nature
which in his opinion are required to finalise the document.

Page
2224

CA
300720

29

Brook Village Envelope Boundary Map - Adoption

The Portfolio Holder introduced the report which sought Cabinet approval to adopt
the Brook Village Envelope Boundary as informal guidance for development
management purposes. Officers had prepared a Village Envelope map of Brook to
indicate where the Council currently considered the existing built up confines of
Brook to be. The map would help clarify the written definition in the Local Plan for the
purposes of decision making on planning applications. He emphasised
recommendation (ii) which would allow for the construction of new development to
be taken in to account.
Resolved:
That (i)

(ii)

30

the Village Envelope Boundary shown in the appendix to the
report be adopted as informal guidance for development
management purposes.
authority be delegated to the Spatial Planning Manager, following
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Planning and
Development, to amend, where relevant, the Village Envelope
Boundary to account for the construction of new development.

Memorial Safety in Burial Grounds

The Portfolio Holder introduced the report which explained that the existing policy
and procedure for inspecting memorial headstones, in both open and closed
cemeteries, had been reviewed in line with guidance issued by the Ministry of Justice
and the Health and Safety Executive. The review had also considered data gathered
during the inspection process. The report provided Members with an update on the
present position, summarised the key findings of the reviewed risk assessment, and
detailed proposed changes to the policy and procedures for the safe management of
memorials in the Borough.
Resolved:
That (i)

(ii)

31

the current position with regard to memorial testing and
inspection be noted.
the updated policy and operational procedures as set out in
Appendix 1 to the report be adopted.

Fees for Replacement Bins and Increases to Garden
Waste Service Fees

The Portfolio Holder introduced the report which provided information and options
with respect of fees being applied for replacement waste and recycling containers
(bins). It provided information with respect to garden waste service fees. The
proposed increases and the proposed fees were set out in the report.

Page
23 25

CA
300720
Members were concerned about particular examples of residents on low incomes
whose bins were often damaged by no fault of their own (cross winds in a particular
road for example) and who may not be able to afford a new bin. This could result in
broken bins being dumped and rubbish being left out on the streets or fly-tipped. The
Portfolio Holder explained that the focus was on residents who were using their
existing bins for other purposes or giving them to relatives in other Districts, whilst
asking for a new set of bins for free and the charge was intended to dissuade people
from doing that. Of course if bins were stolen, or if they were damaged by the
contractors, they would be replaced for free. Officers also did have discretion built in
to these procedures. They would consider people’s individual circumstances and
would not be over-punitive in such cases.
Recommended:
That (i)

(ii)

32

a fee be applied for supply of any new replacement collection
containers, excluding garden waste and food waste containers.
an incremental increase be applied over three successive
financial years for the garden waste collection service.

Local Plan and Planning Policy Task Group – Notes of
27th May and 26th June 2020

Resolved:
That the Notes of the Meetings of the Local Plan and Planning Policy Task
Group held on the 27th May and 26th June 2020, and the Housing Delivery
Action Plan 2020 discussed at the 26th June Meeting, be received and noted.

33

Economic Regeneration and Investment Board - Notes
of 23rd June 2020

Resolved:
That the Notes of the Meeting of the Economic Regeneration and Investment
Board held on the 23rd June 2020 be received and noted.

34

Schedule of Key Decisions to be Taken

Resolved:
That the latest Schedule of Key Decisions as set out within the report be
received and noted.
________________________________________________________________
Queries concerning these minutes? Please contact Member Services
Telephone: (01233) 330349 Email: membersservices@ashford.gov.uk
Agendas, Reports and Minutes are available on: www.ashford.moderngov.co.uk

Page
2426

CA
Published
September 2020
Decisions effective from the 7th October 2020 unless they are called in or are
recommended to the Council for approval
29th

Cabinet
Minutes of a Virtual Meeting of the Cabinet held on Microsoft Teams on the 24th
September 2020.
Present:
Cllr. Clarkson (Chairman);
Cllr. Bartlett (Vice-Chairman);
Cllrs. Barrett, Bell, Buchanan, Clokie, Pickering.
Apologies:
Cllrs. Feacey, Forest, Hayward, Shorter.
Also Present:
Cllrs. Anckorn, Mrs Bell, Burgess, Chilton, Harman, Knowles, Krause, Mulholland,
Ovenden, Spain, Sparks, C Suddards, L Suddards, Walder, Wright.
In attendance:
Chief Executive, Director of Law and Governance, Director of Finance and Economy,
Head of Corporate Policy, Economic Development and Communications, Head of
Personnel and Development, Head of Community Safety and Wellbeing, Head of
Environment and Land Management, Head of Culture, Head of Housing, Head of
Corporate Property and Projects, Community Safety and Wellbeing Manager,
Accountancy Manager, Community Safety and Resilience Team Leader, Parking,
Highways and Transportation Team Leader, Community Safety Officer, Web and
Communications Assistant, Member Services Manager (Operational).

68

Declarations of Interest

Councillor

Interest

Bartlett

Made a Voluntary Announcement as he lived
adjacent to the Mojo Site, Sevington.

69

Minute No.
70

Minutes

Resolved:
That the Minutes of the Meeting of the Cabinet held on the 30th July 2020 be
approved and confirmed as a correct record.

Page
113 27

CA
240920

70

Petitions

In accordance with Procedure Rule 9.1 Mrs Arthur, representing the Village Alliance,
presented a petition to the Cabinet calling for the protection of Mersham and
Sevington.
Mrs Arthur advised that as residents in the Ashford Borough, they wished to see the
land to the East of Highfield Lane, Mersham, remain as a green buffer zone - a
“Strategic Gap in Perpetuity” as referred to in Policy SP7 of the Local Plan 2030,
protecting an ancient settlement and countryside from encroachment, as defined in
the National Planning Policy Framework. This land was the last green field between
Mersham and the customs clearance and lorry holding area. It deserved designation
as a green space in perpetuity. She thanked Councillors for allowing her to speak
and to present their Petition. Mersham and Sevington residents and the Village
Alliance had worked for many years to save the last field protecting their villages.
This petition was launched in the face of the encroaching contingency lorry park and
the HMRC customs clearance site, now known as the Sevington Inland Border
Centre. They had been both humbled and buoyed by the support from their villages,
their neighbouring villages, and the residents of the Ashford Borough, with many
signatures in just six weeks. In fact 1666 valid signatures had been received, and a
total of over 2500 when including those from outside the Borough. They were
heartened to have the support of Parish Councils around the Borough, of the
Campaign to Protect Rural England (CPRE), of Borough Councillors, and Councillor
Clarkson, Leader of the Council. They wished to work together with the Council, the
Kent County Council and the Department for Transport, to provide a community
benefit on this land. A flagship for Policy SP7, Separation of Settlements, to provide
a green buffer, a green space and to protect the integrity of an ancient village for
residents in the Borough to enjoy in perpetuity.
The Leader said that he readily accepted the petition and it would now be dealt with
appropriately in accordance with the provisions set out in the Council’s Constitution.
He said that he, along with Ashford’s MP Damian Green and his Deputy Leader Cllr
Bartlett, has made it very clear to Government that whilst they would work with them
on this Inland Border Facility, it was absolutely vital that there was a buffer zone to
protect the Borough’s beautiful rural areas. He considered that the petition was
therefore “pushing at an open door”, but the issue would be properly debated at the
Council meeting on the 15th October.

71

Leader’s Announcements

The Leader said that he wanted to voice his appreciation for all of the hard work
Officers had put in to making a bid to the Forestry Commission for a significant
allocation of trees to create a new woodland for Ashford. In fact he was delighted to
report that 10 days ago it had been confirmed that Ashford had been successful and
would be awarded some 6666 trees to be planted over the coming months at
Discovery Park. This was a great accolade for Ashford and would be of great benefit
to the ecology of the Borough and the Garden of England as a whole.

Page
11428

CA
240920

72

Financial Monitoring

The Portfolio Holder presented a shortened (bi-monthly) budget monitoring report
covering the two month period to 31st July 2020 (as agreed by the Cabinet on 25th
June 2020 in response to financial uncertainty as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic).
The report examined movements in the General Fund, Housing Revenue Account,
Collection Fund and provided an update on the Government Fees and Charges
Support Scheme.
The Portfolio Holder said that the report presented a slightly improved position in the
forecast deficit, but there would clearly be a lot more detail presented to the next
meeting of the Cabinet in October in the Medium Term Financial Plan report.
In response to questions from a Member, the Leader advised that there had not yet
been a composite reply from Government on requests for extra support for Kent
Authorities to deal with the effects of Covid-19. The Council, along with others, had
lobbied for that and a response was awaited. With regard to the fee for pavement
licensing and the potential for a waiver to assist businesses, the Head of Community
Safety and Wellbeing advised that there had been minimal take-up on this and as
the Winter approached it was unlikely that there would be any more. She said she
would supply the Member with an update on actual figures. The Leader said that
they would keep an open mind in dealing with this issue.
Resolved:
That (i)

(ii)

73

the forecast outturn position for the General Fund and the
Housing Revenue Account be noted.
the forecasts for Council Tax and Business Rates (the Collection
Fund) be noted.

Corporate Property Performance – Annual Report
2019/20

The Portfolio Holder introduced the report which provided a summary of how the
Council’s main commercial assets were performing and the work the Council was
undertaking to improve or maintain such performance. He advised that the report
reflected on the effects of Covid-19 and that these would need to continue to be
managed going forward.
A Member asked about the Sustainable Energy Project, which had a fantastic return
on investment of 49.3%, and wondered if the Council should be making more of this
and looking to roll it out into other areas. He also pointed to the return on assets in
areas like Bockhanger and Stanhope which were much higher than those in Elwick
Place and asked if thought should be given to dispersing investments more widely.
The Head of Corporate Property and Projects advised that the Sustainable Energy
Project related to solar energy and the Council’s decision to take advantage of a
generous feed-in tariff at the time, to install PV panels on a number of Council owned

Page
115 29

CA
240920
properties including the Civic Centre. This had provided a significant return and
future opportunities would continue to be pursued. The Deputy Leader advised that
KCC were currently undertaking some PV work, offering assistance to people who
may want to install PV panels on their homes but could not easily afford the up-front
capital costs, through bulk purchasing to obtain discounts and taking the
administrative burden away from individuals. He encouraged Members to publicise
that scheme in their Wards. It was agreed to also publicise this in the Ashford For
You magazine.
With regard to location of investments, the Leader said there was somewhat of a
dichotomy as some of the investments in the Town Centre had been more about
supporting and revitalising, rather than making significant profits. He advised that
even in these tough times, there were new tenants interested in coming on board for
Elwick Place and whilst that was commercially sensitive at the moment, details
would emerge in the near future. The Head of Corporate Property and Projects
conformed that all but one of the units in Elwick Place were currently ‘under offer’.
There was discussion on Council owned office space and whether there was a
danger that post Covid-19, with working dynamics inevitably changing, this would
leave a surplus of such space, placing a pressure on the Council’s financial position.
The Leader said that he was pleased to report that, even before the current
pandemic, the Council had been very circumspect and had turned down offers to
purchase further office space in and around the town, because they had been aware
of the already changing nature of workplaces. The Council was very cognisant of this
issue and how it could potentially relate to the Civic Centre and International House
in the future.
Resolved:
That (i)

the revenue performance of the Council’s Corporate Property
portfolio during the financial year 2019/20, as provided for in the
Corporate Property Income Schedule at Appendix 1 to the report,
be noted.

(ii)

the risk assessment in relation to the Council’s future income
from its commercial assets, particularly in light of the impacts of
the coronavirus pandemic, be noted.

(iii)

the clarification added to the Property Acquisition, Investment
and Disposal Strategy, as provided in Appendix 2 to the report, be
approved.

74

Introduction of a Tree Policy for Ashford Borough
Council

The Portfolio Holder introduced the report which advised that the Council did not
currently have a policy relating to how tree stock was inspected and managed for the
purposes of public safety. Currently, there was no formal policy that influenced how

Page
11630

CA
240920
Council owned trees were managed in respect of enquiries and complaints from
members of the public, and the report proposed a policy for this area.
Recommended:
That the Tree Policy as set out in Appendix 1 to the report be adopted.

75

Introduction of Tree Planting Schemes

The Portfolio Holder introduced the report which proposed the implementation of a
tree planting scheme and associated policy. This would enhance the amenity value
of areas that had capacity for additional trees and generate environmental benefits
such as removal of carbon, reduction of flooding, enhanced air quality and provision
of shade.
In response to a question it was confirmed that anyone, including Parish Councils
and businesses, as well as individuals, could apply to this scheme.
The Deputy Leader advised that KCC’s Five Year Plan included a scheme to plant
one tree for every person in Kent (1.6 million), so there was funding available and he
considered all Authorities were like minded and would work together to deliver this
for the county.
Recommended:
That the Tree Planting Scheme and Policy as laid out in Appendix 1 to the
report be adopted.

76

Memorial Benches and Seating

The Portfolio Holder introduced the report which advised that the Council
occasionally received requests from members of the public who wished to have a
bench dedicated to a loved one in various open spaces and cemeteries owned by
the Council. He advised that arrangements for managing benches and dedications
were currently ad hoc and this policy would introduce a formal management process
and policy for installation and removal.
Recommended:
That the Memorial Benches Policy as set out in Appendix 1 to the report be
adopted.

77

Removal of Cash Transactions

The report proposed the phased removal of cash from Council business in response
to the wider changes being seen in society as a result of digitalisation of services
and the Covid-19 pandemic. It was reiterated that the majority of the public had
adapted to the behavioural changes and had already embraced technology and
cashless payment options. With regard to parking machines in particular, it was

Page
117 31

CA
240920
noted that the removal of cash would be a phased and sensitive process with cash
usage being monitored and reviewed for demand. If cash demand continued to be
high, cash would be retained in relevant car parks.
A Member stressed the benefits of the Ring Go parking payment facility, and whilst it
may take some a few attempts to get used to, it made paying for parking so much
easier, quicker and more efficient. It also meant that there was no need to ‘keep an
eye on the clock’ for your allotted times as they could be topped up.
The Leader stressed that Ashford was a caring Authority and would not leave
anyone behind. Cash and card payments for parking would continue whilst needed,
alongside the Ring Go App and there would be clear information and marketing
distributed across the Borough in all formats to help users. There was also a
discussion about communicating this message to the Nepalese community, many of
whom did not have English as their first language. The Council’s good links with this
community were emphasised and whilst additional signage was not favoured, there
would be opportunities to support those groups. It was also agreed to publicise the
changes in the Ashford For You magazine.
Resolved:
That (i)

78

the immediate removal of cash payment machines from the Civic
Centre reception be agreed.

(ii)

a phased removal of coin payment from the Council’s on-street
and off-street parking machines be agreed.

(iii)

a phased removal of built in credit card and contactless readers
from the Council’s on-street and off-street parking machines be
agreed.

Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement

The report presented a Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement for
approval by the Council. The statement set out steps that Ashford Borough Council
must undertake to ensure a collaborative approach on these issues across
organisations. The requirement for a statement was not a statutory requirement, but
it was seen as best practice and certainly something this Council wanted to do to
protect the public from the negative impacts of modern slavery and human
trafficking.
Members welcomed the statement and the work the Council had been doing on this
issue. It was recognised that the key responsibility for this was with other agencies,
but by working closely with other strategic partners this demonstrated the Council’s
commitment to being part of the ongoing solution. There were some questions
around empowering workers and making them aware of their rights if they were
being exploited and identifying how to support the hidden victims. The Leader
encouraged any Members with more detailed and specific questions on these
important issues to raise them off-line with the relevant Officers as they could make
sure they were responded to properly. The Community Safety and Resilience Team

Page
11832

CA
240920
Leader confirmed that the Council did have a dedicated Lead Officer for Modern
Slavery and they were part of the Council’s Safeguarding Leads Officer Group.
A Member thanked Officers for the annual training conference that have been put on
about this issue in March. She had attended and it had been excellent and a real
eye-opener. This was a problem that was “hiding in plain sight” so she agreed that
anything that could be done to raise public awareness on this issue should be
pursued. She also hoped that some similar training could be put on again in the
future to raise awareness amongst more Councillors. This was agreed.
It was agreed to publicise the reporting mechanisms in the Ashford For You
magazine and via a Leader’s Briefing Note for Councillors and all Community, Town
and Parish Councils and to make the policy easily accessible on the Council’s
website.
Recommended:
That the Ashford Borough Council Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking
Statement be approved.

79

Ashford Strategic Delivery Board – Notes of 24th July
2020

Resolved:
That the Notes of the Meeting of the Ashford Strategic Delivery Board held on
the 24th July 2020 be received and noted.

80

Economic Regeneration and Investment Board - Notes
of 11th August 2020

A Member asked about the Jasmin Vardimon Dance Company, whose new facility
was referred to in these notes. Whilst it was great to have such a cultural offer in the
town, could any reassurance be given that the Company would put on community
events that would benefit the residents of the Borough at large? The Leader said that
he had also had those concerns and had asked the exact same question and had
been reassured that there would be a Service Level Agreement which would provide
for two or three publically available events every year.
Resolved:
That the Notes of the Meeting of the Economic Regeneration and Investment
Board held on the 11th August 2020 be received and noted.

Page
119 33

CA
240920

81

Member Training Panel – Annual Report and Notes of
5th August 2020

Resolved:
That the Annual Report and the Notes of the Meeting of the Member Training
Panel held on the 5th August 2020 be received and noted.

82

IT and Digital Transformation Advisory Committee –
Notes of 11th August 2020

Resolved:
That the Notes of the Meeting of the IT and Digital Transformation Advisory
Committee held on the 11th August 2020 be received and noted.

83

Local Plan and Planning Policy Task Group – Notes of
29th July 2020

Resolved:
That the Notes of the Meeting of the Local Plan and Planning Policy Task
Group held on the 29th July 2020 be received and noted.

84

Schedule of Key Decisions to be Taken

Resolved:
That the latest Schedule of Key Decisions as set out within the report be
received and noted.

85

Joint Transportation Board – Nomination of
Membership

Resolved:
That the following Members be appointed to the Joint Transportation Board:
Councillors Burgess, Cornish, Feacey, B Heyes (VCh), T Heyes, Krause and
Spain.

________________________________________________________________
Queries concerning these minutes? Please contact Member Services
Telephone: (01233) 330349 Email: membersservices@ashford.gov.uk
Agendas, Reports and Minutes are available on: www.ashford.moderngov.co.uk

Page
12034

Agenda Item
AU 9
Ashford Borough Council Audit Committee
Minutes of a Virtual Meeting of the Audit Committee held on Microsoft Teams on the
29th September 2020.
Present:
Cllr. Krause (Chairman);
Cllr. Buchanan (Vice-Chairman);
Cllrs. Hayward, Mulholland, Shorter, C Suddards, Walder.
In attendance:
Cllr. Burgess
Director of Finance & Economy, Head of Finance and IT, Senior Accountant,
Accountancy Manager, Head of Audit Partnership, Deputy Head of Audit
Partnership, Investigation and Enforcement Support Manager, Compliance and Data
Protection Manager, Head of Community Safety and Wellbeing
Engagement Lead – Grant Thornton UK.

86

Minutes

Resolved:
That the Minutes of the Meeting of this Committee held on the 17th March 2020
be approved and confirmed as a correct record.

87

Draft Statement of Accounts for 2019/20

The Senior Accountant introduced this item and drew Members’ attention to the key
points within the report. She gave a presentation which covered:






Expectation on Members
Materiality and Error
Assets Valuations
Pensions
Going Concern and COVID

The Chairman opened up the item for discussion and the following points/questions
were raised:


A Member thanked the Senior Accountant for a well-written report and
presentation. He noted she mentioned that non-essential project work had
been halted, but in fact some non-essential but desirable project work had
been permitted to proceed, particularly mechanisms for revenue raising. He
also asked Officers to note that this was a report to the Audit Committee, and
that the Recommendations should refer to Audit Committee rather than the
Cabinet.

Page
121 35

AU
290920
Resolved
That the Audit Committee
I. Notes the draft statement of accounts 2019/20
II. Notes the risks to the draft statement of accounts
2019/20.

88

Internal Audit Annual Report 2019/20 and Revised
Audit Plan 2020/21 and Internal Audit - Outcomes of
the External Quality Assessment (EQA)

The Head of the Audit Partnership introduced this item and took Members through
the key points raised in the reports. The Chairman opened up the item for
discussion and the following points/questions were raised:


A Member congratulated a member of the Audit team on completion of
professional training. Members agreed it was important that there was a
training programme in place for the Audit team.



Another Member commented that this was a very good result for the Council,
but questioned whether there was any area for improvement. The Head of
the Audit Partnership replied that there were no major areas for improvement,
but it might be prudent to plan for the high priority risk areas on the 2020/21
Audit Plan.



The Portfolio Holder for Planning noted the deferred actions on page 138 of
the report. He considered it was unacceptable for actions to be deferred three
times. He had brought this matter to the attention of the Head of Planning
and Development, and the lead Officer for Enforcement and had asked for
these deferrals to be addressed. He went on to explain that the Enforcement
team was operating at 50% capacity at present, and that it was intended to
recruit into the current vacancies in the coming months. However, this was no
excuse and the Enforcement function must perform better in future. The
Deputy Head of the Audit Partnership suggested that rather than chase these
recommendations, a full audit could be undertaken around April 2021, once
the vacancies had been filled and the team had a chance to function at full
capacity. The Head of the Audit Partnership suggested that an interim audit
update be provided to an Audit Committee meeting later in the year to agree
the exact wording of any additional recommendation in relation to
unacceptable deferrals.

Resolved
That the Audit Committee
i) notes the Head of Audit Partnership opinion. The opinion states that, in the
view of internal audit, the Council’s internal controls, corporate governance
and risk management arrangements have worked effectively during
2019/20.

Page
12236

AU
290920
ii) notes the work underlying the opinion and the Head of Audit’s assurance
is independent and in conformance with Public Sector Internal Audit
Standards.
iii) approves the updated 2020/21 Internal Audit & Assurance Plan (at
Appendix 1) and notes the assurance it was prepared with sufficient
independenceand objectivity.
iv) notes the conclusion on CIPFA’s External Quality Assessment of Mid Kent
Audit that the Partnership Fully Conforms with Standards.

89

Corporate Enforcement Support & Investigations
Team Annual Report 2019/20 (presentation)

The Investigation and Enforcement Support Manager introduced this item and gave
a presentation which covered:







Overview of service’s key functions
Team structure
Functions
2020/21 priorities
2020/21 new projects – income generation
Fraud and errors detected

The Chairman opened up the item for discussion and the following points/comments
were raised:


In response to a question, the Investigation and Enforcement Support
Manager advised that 22 fly tipping incidents had been investigated, with one
successful prosecution. She explained that where the scale of the fly tipping
was comparatively low, it was considered more viable to deal with the matter
through providing advice and education rather than going through a costly
prosecution process. She clarified that in 85% of cases those responsible for
fly tipping had been identified. Members considered that more emphasis
should be put on this positive outcome and suggested more publicity for the
work of the Fraud team. The Investigation and Enforcement Support
Manager agreed that more work was necessary to publicise the preventative
work undertaken by the team. The Director of Finance and Economy added
that it was important to make the public aware of the Council’s efforts to
protect public assets and access to public services.



A Member asked about potential for the provision of a Council environmental
crime team. The Director for Finance and Economy advised that Members
had agreed a plan for this prior to the COVID outbreak but it had been paused
during the national lockdown. Some reflection was now required on the timing
and viability of this project. The Portfolio Holder for Environment and Land
Management replied that the plan had been to employ an Enforcement Officer
post which would be financially self-funding through fines. He advised that fly
tipping had not been prolific during lock down, but had started to increase in
recent months. He also advised that the Council was actively publicising the
garden waste service in an attempt to prevent this type of fly tipping.

Page
123 37

AU
290920


90

A Member noted that small teams, such as the Fraud team, were vulnerable
to key individuals leaving the authority and asked that consideration be given
to service resilience in such circumstances. The Chairman suggested that
this could be looked at by the Audit team during their 2020/21 work plan. The
Compliance and Data Protection Manager explained that succession planning
and resilience for small teams was monitored at service and delivery level via
Management Team, and any risks which were considered to be of strategic
importance would be brought to the attention of the Audit Committee.

Corporate Risk Register

The Compliance and Data Protection Manager introduced this item, and explained
that there had been be large number of changes since the last report, and this was
reflected in many of the risk profiles.
The Chairman opened up the item for discussion and the following points/comments
were made:


The Portfolio Holder for Planning said he recognised the risk in relation to the
Housing Delivery Plan and the potential to be unable to fund this under the
current situation. He also expressed concern about the potential loss of
electronic devices which were now held by Officers and Members outside
Council premises. He queried the risk assessment and asked whether
mitigation was in place to educate Officers and Members about the need to
keep data secure. The Compliance and Data Protection Manager said work
was currently underway to train staff and communicate with all involved about
the importance of data and asset protection. However, she conceded that the
scoring in relation to portable devices may need rethinking. The Head of
Finance and IT added that users were currently accessing data via Pulse
Secure, and that data was saved on the Council’s servers, rather than
portable devices, which lowered the risk of data breaches. She said that
cybersecurity was a high risk but that a procedure had been set up by the IT
team to scan portable devices prior to being connected to the servers. The
Director of Finance and Economy added that training had been launched for
staff to encourage them to be more cyber-aware.



A Member asked about the potential loss of KPSN and whether this should be
considered a high risk as it would have significant impact. The Compliance
and Data Protection Manager advised that the likelihood of losing KPSN was
minimal and not considered a significant risk at present.



A Member asked about risk in relation to Ashford College. The Compliance
and Data Protection Manager replied that the new CEO had been invited to a
briefing session for Members, and would also be attending the Ashford
Strategic Delivery Board in due course. She said the College expansion
would be tailored to meet local demand based on the main employment
sectors in the Borough. The Chairman said he would like a further briefing on
this item at the next meeting of the Audit Committee.

Page
12438

AU
290920

Resolved
That the Audit Committee agrees the assessments and the adequacy of key
controls to manage the risks.

91

Audit Fee 2020/21

The Senior Accountant introduced this item and drew Members attention to the Audit
Fee 2020/21.
The Chairman opened up the item for discussion and the following points/comments
were made:


A Member asked whether the fee had changed over the years and whether it
was still considered competitive. The Director of Finance and Economy said
that the fee had been significantly higher in the past and had come down in
recent years. The annual audit had been subject to a tender exercise, and
this was considered a competitive price but was probably at the lower limit
now.

Resolved
That the Audit Committee notes the Audit Fee 2020/21.

92

Audit Committee Progress report and Sector Update
2019/20 and External Audit Plan Update

The Engagement Lead from Grant Thornton introduced this item and drew Members’
attention to the key points within the reports.
Resolved
That the Audit Committee notes the Audit Progress Report and Sector Update
for 2019/20 and the External Audit Plan Update.

93

Report Tracker for Future Meetings

Resolved:
That the Schedule of Meetings be noted.

____________________________________________________________________
Queries concerning these minutes? Please contact membersservices@ashford.gov.uk
Agendas, Reports and Minutes are available on: www.ashford.moderngov.co.uk

Page
125 39

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item
SCR 10
Ashford Borough Council: Selection and
Constitutional Review Committee
Minutes of a Virtual Meeting of the Selection and Constitutional Review Committee held
on Microsoft Teams on the 1st October 2020.
Present:
Cllr. Bartlett (Vice-Chairman in the Chair);
Cllrs. Barrett, Clokie, Farrell, Feacey, Harman, Ledger, Ovenden, C Suddards, Wright.
In accordance with Procedure Rule 1.2 (c) Councillors Ledger and C Suddards attended
as Substitute Members for Councillors Hayward and Chilton respectively.
Apologies:
Cllrs. Chilton, Clarkson, Hayward, Howard-Smith.
Also Present:
Cllrs. Burgess, Shorter.
In Attendance:
Head of Planning and Development, Principal Solicitor (Strategic Development),
Environmental Protection and Licensing Team Leader, Member Services Manager
(Operational).

94

Minutes

Councillor Barrett referred to his appointment as a Liaison Member with the Singleton
Spaces Trust which appeared to have been removed from the list of Outside Body
appointments. The Member Services Manager (Operational) agreed to investigate and
add this back on to the list.
Resolved:
That the Minutes of the Meeting of this Committee held on the 30th June 2020 be
approved and confirmed as a correct record.

95

Proposed Changes to the Scheme of Delegations to
Officers Regarding Planning and Development Decisions

The report sought changes to the Scheme of Delegations to Officers regarding Planning
and Development decisions. This related to: - retaining the delegations granted under
urgency powers at the start of the coronavirus crisis in relation to Reserved Matters
applications, Section 73 applications, and Tree Preservation Orders; extending the

Page 41
127

SCR
011020
scope of existing delegations in relation to major planning applications; and adding the
Head of Planning and Development to all of the delegations related to the Planning and
Development Service.
A revised version of the Appendix to the report (to which the recommended
amendments referred) had been circulated the previous day and was referred to by the
Principal Solicitor (Strategic Development).
In accordance with Procedure Rule 9.3, Mr Ransley, a local resident and Kingsnorth
Parish Councillor, had registered to speak on this item. His speech was read to the
Committee by the Member Services Manager (Operational) and this is attached to these
Minutes at Appendix A.
In response to the public speaker, the Principal Solicitor (Strategic Development)
advised that the points made around the use of the word “can” rather than “must” had
perhaps resulted from the way he had written Paragraph 3(A) of the report. This was not
a direct quote from the Constitution, it was a summary of complex legalistic provisions
for Members’ benefit. To clarify, it was a matter of judgement for the relevant Planning
Officers mentioned, whether an application was “sensitive” such that it should be
decided by the Planning Committee. The test was not that it was purely “sensitive”, but
that it was sensitive when viewed in the round and, if that was the case, their delegation
was suspended and they were not able to determine it, so it effectively became a “must”
at that point and it must be reported to the Committee. So the way the Constitution
worked did deliver what Mr Ransley was asking for, and there was thus no need to
amend the recommendation.
Members then discussed the report and the following responses were given to
questions/comments: 

The importance of Ward Members working closely with their Parish Councils in
order to get relevant applications elevated to the Planning Committee was
emphasised. It was also emphasised that the proposals in no way fettered the
rights of Ward Members to call any Planning applications to the Committee.



There were a myriad of National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Local
Plan policies to recognise the green agenda when determining planning
applications, and Officers would be reminded of the importance of utilising these.



Some Members expressed concerns over the threshold of up to 2.5 hectares for
the site area of a delegated housing application where there was no indication of
how many dwellings were to be included, and wondered if this should be reduced
to 1.25 hectares. There were also some concerns about major applications up to
50 housing units being delegated because, depending on location, these could be
very significant developments. It was reiterated that the proposed delegation
would allow such applications to be refused without a report to the Committee,
and also regardless of the new thresholds, any Planning application could still be
called to Committee by a Ward Member if they deemed it appropriate.



The existing arrangement for consulting with Committee Members on certain
applications to be decided under delegated powers would be extended to the new

Page 42
128

SCR
011020
delegations described in Paragraph 18 of, and the revised Appendix to, the
report. This procedure gave the Committee Members the opportunity to decide if
they wanted the Committee to consider the application or not and if six or more
Members wanted it to go to Committee, it would.


In response to general comments about the backlog of major applications and
whether this was a consequence of the Planning Committee process, or of
resourcing in the Planning Team, it was confirmed that the backlog was
recognised and had been highlighted in the recent Planning Advisory Service
review. It was vitally important to avoid designation and potentially lose the right
to determine major applications. The main reason for the backlog was the fact
that so few major applications were decided in Planning Committee meetings.
There was also not a simple solution of increasing the number of Planning
Committee meetings because these still had to be properly resourced and an
increase in meetings would not necessarily lead to more applications being dealt
with in a more timely or efficient fashion. On resourcing, it was recognised that
there had been significant problems with recruiting good quality Planning Officers
to Ashford. It did not appear to be an issue of location or finances, but
unfortunately those individuals had not appeared to be out there in the market.
There were still vacancies where recruitment continued to be pursued and it was
hoped they may be more successful this time around to help alleviate some of the
current problems.



There was a recognition that there were occasions when applications were called
to Committee by Ward Members which would have been better discussed
informally between Members and Officers to seek clarity or a resolution, or where
applications were called in and the Ward Member did not then appear at Planning
Committee to make their case, and these instances were extremely frustrating.
These were perhaps issues that needed further consideration within Groups, or
with the Chairman of the Committee.



Whilst Ward Members could not refer a TPO confirmation to the Planning
Committee, the Portfolio Holder for Planning and Development could, and he
confirmed that he would be receptive to supporting Ward Members with these
where appropriate.



It was confirmed that, if approved, the new arrangements would come into effect
for both existing and new applications, following the Full Council meeting on the
15th October 2020. If existing applications had already been called in, this would
not affect those and they would remain called in unless the call-in was withdrawn.
The Head of Planning and Development advised that the Ward Members would
be notified before existing applications were determined under the new delegated
powers.

The Portfolio Holder for Planning and Development spoke to formally record that he
supported the report and the recommendations within it.

Page 43
129

SCR
011020
Recommended:
That

(i)

the increased delegations to Officers described in Paragraphs 13, 1820 (as amended by the revised Appendix) and 23 of the report, be
agreed.

(ii)

the clarifications to the Member Call-in safeguards as described in
Paragraphs 16 and 21 of the report be agreed.

Constitutional Amendment – Pavement Licensing

96

The report recommended an amendment to the Responsibility for Functions in the
Constitution (Delegations to the Community Safety and Wellbeing Manager(s)), in order
to make specific written reference to the new Pavement Licensing regime.
Recommended:
That the changes to the Constitution as set out in Paragraph 4 of the report be
approved.

97

Update to Appointments to Committees and Outside
Bodies

The report advised the Committee of a small number of updates to the appointments
reported to this Committee on the 30th June 2020, and subsequently ratified at the
Annual Meeting of the Council on the 16th July 2020. These appointments were made
following the passing of Councillor Alex Ward.
Resolved:
That the following appointments be noted and approved: 



Appeals Committee – Cllr Anckorn
Joint Transportation Board – Cllr Spain
Ashford Almshouses and Parochial Charities – Cllr Lyn Suddards.

________________________________________________________________
Queries concerning these Minutes? Please contact Member Services:
Telephone: 01233 330349 Email: membersservices@ashford.gov.uk
Agendas, Reports and Minutes are available on: http://ashford.moderngov.co.uk

Page 44
130

SCR
011020
APPENDIX A
To Members,
Thank you for allowing me to speak. I hope members are not minded to delegate so
much and in particular disagree with the existing delegations of reserved matters on
major sites. If you are minded to delegate then I would highlight: Under the Urgency measures one of the safeguards is as below‘(A) the Strategic Development and Delivery Manager or the Development Management
Manager can report to Committee any application or TPO confirmation that they
consider to be sensitive such that it should be decided by the Committee’
I would hope that members will seek clarity on what is necessary for the hurdle of
‘should’ to be met. As an example the Reserved Matters application at Parcel R in
Chilmington Green, which was determined under these powers, received objection from
both Great Chart Parish Council (the host Parish), Kingsnorth Parish Council (the
immediately adjacent Parish and downstream) and the ward member immediately
adjacent wished for the application to be called in (as did Kingsnorth Parish). This
application resulted in –
-

Houses being built on the floodplain
The ground levels have been raised out of the floodplain but no compensating
land has been lowered.
The application was beyond the scope of the original Outline Permission for
Chilmington which conditioned that the Reserved Matters must not exceed the
scope of the EIA assessment…That EIA assessment expressly stating numerous
times that there would be no built development in Flood Zones 2 and 3…which it
now is.

Mr Baker provided a response to some issues with this decision at the time but was
unable to forward an explanation of the way officers addressed the floodplain issues at
the time. I have taken advice from a Barrister and they still believe that the decision was
flawed here as no Reserved Matters application can exceed the scope of the original
EIA without updating it.
How was the ‘should’ not triggered in this case, it would seem to provide no safeguard
at all.
I believe this situation arises as a result of the ‘can’ in (A) and would respectfully request
that if members are minded to accept the principle of this recommendation it be
amended to read‘(A) the Strategic Development and Delivery Manager or the Development Management
Manager must report to Committee any application or TPO confirmation that they
consider to be sensitive such that it should be decided by the Committee’

Page 45
131

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

A CULTURE OF PRODUCTIVITY
President Gillian H. Gallagher

ASHFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL
Page 47

FOREWORD FROM THE CHAIRMAN
Councillor Noel Ovenden
I am pleased to present the annual

I would like to thank all of the

report on behalf of the Overview

Officers who have been involved

and Scrutiny Committee at Ashford

with reviews during the year and

Borough Council. Key activities

have assisted the Committee

undertaken by the Committee over

proficiently. Thanks must also go to

the last municipal year are detailed

the Members of the Committee and

within the report. To summarise,

non-committee Members who have

the Committee have looked at

played an active role at meetings

matters such as how the council

regarding various matters such as

communicates with the public in its

scrutiny of the budget for

Ashford For You magazine, the

2019/2020.

performance of Aspire Landscape
Management since the service has
been brought back in house, and
also the proposed masterplan for
the village of Wye.

Covid-19
The impact of COVID-19 on

Looking towards the future, the

Ashford Borough from March of this

Committee looks to have a full and

year is yet to be determined as

busy year ahead with dealing with

crisis continues at this time.

the council’s recovery from COVID-

However, there is scope for

19 and also some major topics

the committee to exercise its

being brought forward such as

function when considering our

digital transformation.

response to the crisis.

Page 48

AN INTRODUCTION TO OVERVIEW
AND SCRUTINY
The Local Government Act 2000 (the Act) introduced a requirement that
councils with a ‘Leader and Executive’ arrangement must include the provision
of one or more Overview and Scrutiny Committees within their council structure.
Under section 21 of the Act, the council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee has
power to submit reports and make recommendations to the Cabinet or full
Council on any aspect of council business or any matter affecting the Borough
or its residents.
The constitution of Ashford Borough Council contains provisions for a single
Overview and Scrutiny Committee to carry out the functions detailed in the Act,
although the Committee may assemble task groups from its membership for
specific reviews.
In the 2019/20 municipal year the Overview and Scrutiny Committee had 12
members, appointed in line with the broad political balance of the council. The
roles of Chair and Vice-Chair of the Committee were appointed to opposition
members, although the Committee operates apolitically in its discussions, with
all members of the Committee working together to ensure that the council and
its services are acting effectively and efficiently.
Following the local elections in May 2019, the political makeup of the council
and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee changed for the last municipal year.
Members were provided with introductory training in preparation for a new
committee on the role, purpose and powers of Overview and Scrutiny was

49 session was
arranged through the Centre for Public Scrutiny.Page
This training
attended by members of each political group on the Council and key staff
involved in the delivery of the scrutiny function.

MATTERS SCRUTINISED BY THE COMMITTEE
Since May 2019, the Committee has considered a number of items
related to the council’s operations and the wider issue affecting the
borough and its residents. These include:

- PERFORMANCE AND DEVELOPMENT OF ASPIRE LANDSCAPE MANAGEMENT
- WYE MASTERPLAN DEVELOPMENT AND CONSULTATION
- ASHFORD COLLEGE UPDATE
- BROADBAND AND PROMOTION OF FIBRE TO THE PREMISES
The Committee also considers some items on annual basis, namely:

- SCRUTINY OF THE COUNCIL’S DRAFT BUDGET (CARRIED OUT BY A TASK AND FINISH GROUP)
- A REPORT OF THE ASHFORD COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP
- A REPORT ON SAFEGUARDING ADULTS AND CHILDREN AT RISK
- A SICKNESS ABSENCE REPORT FOR THE COUNCIL’S WORKFORCE
- THE COUNCIL’S QUARTERLY CORPORATE PERFORMANCE REPORTS.

Page 50

BUDGET SCRUTINY TASK GROUP
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has a duty to scrutinise the council’s draft Capital
and Revenue budgets. In 2019/20, the Committee assembled a cross-party task and finish
group whose remit included ensuring that the draft 2019/20 budget was achievable and
deliverable in line with the council’s 5 year Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) and the
council’s adopted corporate priorities.
The group consisted of 5 cross-party Members and met with various Directors and Heads
of Service to ask further questions. The group targeted Planning and S106 in its first
meeting which looked at the delivery of the service's restructure and management of risks
regarding S106 funding.
The second meeting looked at Commercial Property and the council's income from its
property company, A Better Choice for Property.
The final meeting was set aside to look at an analysis of the council's reserves, the Capital
Plan, Business Rates, Council Tax and Universal Credit. A wrap up meeting followed to
also answer any additional queries the group wanted to bring forward.
The Task Group made a total of six recommendations in regards to the budget for 2020/21
that they believe will assist in managing any risks within services in the year.

Page 51

WYE3 MASTERPLAN
Following a Cabinet decision made in September 2018 to defer the adoption of
the WYE3 Masterplan, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee felt that it would be
beneficial to examine and develop the consultation process before
reconsideration by Cabinet.
A cross party Task Group was set up comprising of 5 Members and conducted
an in depth review of the processes and practices followed in developing and
consulting on the WYE3 Masterplan.
The role of the Overview and Scrutiny Task Group in conducting this review was
twofold – first, to review the masterplan development and consultation processes
to establish the veracity of any claims of process failures, and secondly to
provide recommendations for
improvements in process that will be of benefit for the future.
In conducting its review, the Overview and Scrutiny Task Group considered a
range of written and oral evidence regarding the development of and
consultation on the draft WYE3 Masterplan.
A total of 12 recommendations were made to Council in September 2019 with the
view that they would enable improvements to the council’s processes for future
masterplanning and consultation exercises. The focus of these recommendations
were based around a number of themes such as traffic, resourcing and
governance, and consultation and communication.

Page 52

ASPIRE
In October 2016, Ashford Borough Council made the decision to adopt an in
house grounds provider, Aspire Landscape Management. An update report on the
progress of Aspire was then presented to Cabinet in January 2019. Members of
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee felt that it would be beneficial to review
whether the Aspire had achieved its expected goals and outcomes so far.
The Head of Environment and Land Management presented a report to the
Committee and noted that the Aspire service had been hugely successful across
areas of the Borough.
The Committee discussed the expansion of the Aspire services to developing
areas across the Borough and it was noted that Aspire would have an opportunity
to put in competitive bids when appropriate to do so.
Overall, Members supported and commended the Aspire team for its excellent
service and supported plans for further development of the in-house service.

ASHFORD FOR YOU
In light of its first year of publications, the Committee requested a review of the council’s
residents’ magazine, Ashford For You. In particular, members wanted to look at how
receptive residents had been during its first year and what the plans were for
development/digitisation of the magazine and other communications in the future.
A presentation was brought to a Committee meeting led by the Communications and
Marketing Manager to explain to Members the various ways that the council had
communicated with residents.
Members were invited to ask questions and discuss the magazine. Overall, it highlighted
that the magazine was of an excellent standard, however, advised that more could be
done to provide coverage to the more rural areas of the Borough. Other questions were
aimed at understanding the cost implications of the magazine and if this was value for
money. Overall the Committee supported the continuation of magazine and look forward to
learning of its future developments.

Page 53

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12
Agenda Item No:
Report To:

COUNCIL

Date of Meeting:

15th October 2020

Report Title:

CONSIDERATION OF A PETITION RECEIVED BY THE
COUNCIL

Report Author &
Job Title:

Terry Mortimer – Director of Law and Governance
Simon Cole – Strategic Development and Delivery Manager

Portfolio Holder
Cllr. Paul Bartlett (Legal and Democracy)
Portfolio Holder for: Cllr. Neil Shorter (Planning and Development)

Summary:

A petition has been submitted to the Council calling for the
land to the East of Highfield Lane, Mersham to remain as a
green buffer zone for the protection of Mersham and
Sevington.
As the petition contained more than 1500 valid signatures, in
accordance with Ashford Borough Council’s Petitions
Scheme, it should now be debated at a Full Council Meeting
to which all elected Members are invited. The procedure to
be followed at the meeting is attached to this report, along
with advice from Officers on the substance of the petition.

Contact:

terry.mortimer@ashford.gov.uk
simon.cole@ashford.gov.uk

Page 55

Agenda Item No.

CONSIDERATION OF A PETITION RECEIVED BY THE
COUNCIL
Introduction and Background
1.

A petition was submitted to the Cabinet on 24th September 2020. It was started
both on-line on the change.org platform, and via hard copy and submitted by Mrs
Linda Arthur on behalf of The Village Alliance. Whilst the version of the petition
that was submitted contains over 2500 total signatures, 1666 of these are classed
as ‘valid’ under the provisions of the Ashford Borough Council Petitions Scheme
as people who “live or work in the Borough”, as 1666 of the signatories have
supplied an address within the Ashford Borough. In presenting the petition at the
Cabinet meeting Mrs Arthur made the following supporting statement: “As residents in the Ashford Borough, we wish to see the land to the East
of Highfield Lane, Mersham, remain as a green buffer zone - a “Strategic
Gap in Perpetuity” as referred to in Policy SP7 of the Local Plan 2030,
protecting an ancient settlement and countryside from encroachment, as
defined in the National Planning Policy Framework.
This land is the last green field between Mersham and the customs
clearance and lorry holding area. It deserves designation as a green space
in perpetuity. I thank Councillors for allowing me to speak and to present
our Petition. Mersham and Sevington residents and the Village Alliance
have worked for many years to save the last field protecting our villages.
This petition was launched in the face of the encroaching contingency lorry
park and the HMRC customs clearance site, now known as the Sevington
Inland Border Centre.
We have been both humbled and buoyed by the support from our villages,
our neighbouring villages, and the residents of the Ashford Borough, with
many signatures in just six weeks. In fact 1666 valid signatures have been
received, and a total of over 2500 when including those from outside the
Borough. We are heartened to have the support of Parish Councils around
the Borough, of the Campaign to Protect Rural England (CPRE), of Borough
Councillors, and Councillor Clarkson, Leader of the Council. We wish to
work together with the Council, the Kent County Council and the
Department for Transport, to provide a community benefit on this land. A
flagship for Policy SP7, Separation of Settlements, to provide a green
buffer, a green space and to protect the integrity of an ancient village for
residents in the Borough to enjoy in perpetuity”

2.

As the petition contains more than 1500 valid signatures, in accordance with
Ashford Borough Council’s Petitions Scheme, it should now be debated at a Full
Council Meeting to which all elected Members are invited. The procedure to be
followed at the meeting is detailed at Paragraph 3 of this report. Advice from
Officers on the substance of the petition is contained from Paragraph 4 onwards.

Page 56

Procedural Matters
The Council’s Petitions Scheme provides for the following: -

3.


If a Petition has, or acquires 1500 valid signatures, the issue will be debated at a
full Council Meeting to which all elected members are invited.



At such a meeting, the Petition Organiser, in this case Mrs Arthur or someone
nominated on her behalf, will have the right to speak about the petition, normally
for up to 10 minutes. Reasonable advance notice will be provided to ensure that
any preparation can be undertaken in time – Mrs Arthur has requested to speak
and has been advised in writing of the date for this meeting. Public speakers will
not be allowed to take part in any debate.



The Chairman of the Meeting will decide upon the amount of time to allow for the
debate on the Petition, and will take account of the degree of public interest in the
issue, the level of support given to the Petition and the number of elected
members wishing to express their views on the subject.



The Council accepts that it will not normally be sufficient for such a meeting
merely to ‘take note’ of the Petition and that there should be a decision taken as
to what other steps (including but not restricted to the actions specified below)
should also be taken as a response.



Among the actions the Council may undertake are one or more of the following:

Taking the action requested in the Petition



Considering the Petition at a Council Meeting



Holding an Inquiry



Commissioning relevant research



Organising a public meeting



Mounting a wider public consultation



Meeting with the Petition Organiser or representatives of
signatories



Providing a written response outlining the Council’s views on
the subject



Referring the issue to the Council’s Overview & Scrutiny
Committee OR



Referring the issue to the relevant Committee



Consulting statutory partners and local service providers



Instigating discussions with the voluntary and community
sectors



Make representations to Commercial or other Interests

Page 57



The Petition Organiser will be formally notified of the decision taken at the Council
meeting. This will take place within 5 working days.

Members are reminded of the Rules of Debate at Full Council Meetings (outlined at
Part 4, General Procedure Rules, Section 13 of the Constitution, and appended to
this report at Appendix A). Of particular note are the following points: 




Only one speech per Member, per motion. No speech to exceed five minutes.
No motion to be debated until seconded.
Amendments can only change the wording of a motion – not negate the
effect of the motion.
Once a motion is under debate, no other motion can be moved.

Officers’ Advice
4.

The following advice is intended to provide Members with the background relating
to the action that the petition seeks, i.e. the designation of the land east of
Highfield Lane, Sevington as a ‘strategic gap in perpetuity’.

History to date
5.

In 2017, the Council granted outline planning permission to Friends Life Ltd for:‘development to provide an employment led mixed use scheme, to include site
clearance, the alteration of highways, engineering works and construction of new
buildings and structures of up to 157,616 sq. m. comprising: up to 140,000 sq. m.
Class B8 (storage and distribution) use; up to 23,500 sq. m. of B1a/B1c Business
(of which a maximum of 20,000 sq. m. of B1a); up to 15,000 sq. m. of B2 (general
industry); up to 250 sq. m. of A1 (retail shops) and 5,500 sq. m. of sui generis to
accommodate Kent Wool Growers together with ancillary and associated
development including utilities and transport infrastructure, car parking and
landscaping’ on land lying to the west of Highfield Lane, Sevington. This scheme
had attracted a significant level of objections from nearby residents and Parish
Councils but was on land allocated for employment development in the then
adopted Core Strategy 2008 and Urban Sites & Infrastructure DPD (2012).

6.

Since then no specific detailed proposals had come forward on the site until the
Government announced in July 2020 that it had acquired the land for the
purposes of providing an inland border facility to meet additional demands for the
checking of imported and exported goods once the transition period following the
UK’s exit from the EU had ended on the 31st December 2020.

7.

Since this time, progress on developing the site for this purpose has been swift
and remains on course to be opened for operational purposes at the start of
January 2021. The Government has laid a Special Development Order before
Parliament which would grant planning permission for this use of the land and the
associated operations and buildings.

8.

In acquiring the site for the border facility, the Government also acquired
AXA/Friends Life’s interest in the land on the eastern side of Highfield Lane,
which is the area that is the subject of this petition. Recently, this has been used

Page 58

in parts for the storage of material that has been excavated from the construction
site for the border facility on the western side of Highfield Lane.
9.

In discussions with Government officials and Ministers, it has been confirmed that
the Government has no plans to develop now or in the future on the land east of
Highfield Lane.

Local Plan policy
10.

Policy SP7 of the adopted Local Plan is entitled ‘Separation of Settlements’. It is
set out in full below:

Policy SP7 - Separation of Settlements
Proposals for built development on non-allocated sites outside the built up confines of
settlements shall be permitted only where its impact, individually or cumulatively,
would not result in the coalescence or merging of two (or more) separate settlements, or
the significant erosion of a gap between settlements resulting in the loss of individual
identity or character.
Proposals for outdoor sports and recreational uses will be permitted subject to there
being no overriding conflict with other policies and the wider objectives of the Plan.
Any related built development should be kept to the minimum necessary to enable the
functioning of the associated use, be sensitively located and of a high quality design.
11.

This was a new Local Plan policy for the Council and one that reflected the
pressure for additional growth, especially around Ashford, and the desire to retain
the separate and distinctive characteristics of individual settlements that are
important to the overall quality and character of the borough as a whole.
Examples are cited in the Local Plan of planned ‘buffers’ such as those between
Park Farm and Kingsnorth village and in the proposals for the new development
area, south of Kingsnorth village (allocation policy S4).

12.

In the preparation and examination of the Local Plan, representations were
received from different parties seeking the designation or ‘allocation’ of green
‘buffer’ land in particular locations. This included representations from Mrs Arthur
(the organiser of this petition) which sought a specific green ‘buffer’ designation
for the land east of Highfield Lane. However, the Council’s view then, which was
subsequently supported by the Local Plan Inspectors in their Examination Report,
was that a general policy that sought to avoid the coalescence of different
settlements through unplanned development would be a more effective and
flexible way of providing the same outcome.

13.

I note that the petition refers to a strategic gap in perpetuity (my emphasis) as
being referred to in policy SP7. Members are advised that neither the policy nor
its supporting text in the Local Plan makes any reference to separation ‘in
perpetuity’ and so I consider that the petition seeks not only a location-specific
designation as a green buffer but one that would not be subject to any form of
review or reconsideration at any time in the future.

Page 59

Conclusion
14.

The concerns raised by the petitioners of the effects of the southerly expansion of
Ashford towards Mersham are legitimate and understandable. The scale of the
current operations on the land west of Highfield Lane have naturally caused
concern in the local community and current uncertainty in respect of the eventual
trading (and hence) border relationship with the EU can lead to speculation over
how the facility currently under construction may need to be used in the future.

15.

However, there are no proposals of any sort to develop the land east of Highfield
Lane at the present time and verbal assurances have been received that
Government has no intention of doing so in the future or that the Council would
not be the determining authority were that to change. As such, there is no
immediate ‘risk’ of the land being put forward for development, let alone
approved.

16.

In these circumstances, I consider that the aim of the petition could be properly
considered through the next iteration of the Local Plan, perhaps alongside other
locations where a similar ‘designation’ might be justified, and where all
stakeholders may then have the chance to comment. This will also enable the
success of policy SP7 in achieving its aims to be assessed as the alternative to
bespoke ‘designations’ of buffer land.

17.

In reaching this conclusion, this need not prevent any discussions with the
Government over how the area of land in question might be secured as an open
space / green buffer area in the future through its ownership or long term
management.

Page 60

Appendix A
Ashford Borough Council Constitution
Part 4
Rules of Procedure General Procedure Rules

13.

Rules of Debate

13.1

No speeches until motion seconded
No speeches may be made after the mover has moved a proposal and
explained the purpose of it until the motion has been seconded.

13.2

Right to Require Motion in Writing
Unless notice of the motion has already been given, the Mayor may require it
to be written down and handed to the Proper Officer before it is discussed.

13.3

Seconder’s Speech
When seconding a motion or amendment, a Member may reserve their
speech until later in the debate.

13.4

Content and Length of Speeches
Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion or to a personal
explanation or point of order. No speech may exceed five minutes without the
consent of the Mayor.

13.5

When a Member May Speak Again
A Member who has spoken on a motion may not speak again whilst it is the
subject of debate, except:
(a)

to speak once on an amendment moved by another Member;

(b)

to move a further amendment if a previous amendment is not carried or
the motion has been amended since s/he last spoke (see 13.6 (d) and
(e) below);

(c)

if the Members first speech was on an amendment moved by another
Member, to speak on the main issue (whether or not the amendment
on which s/he spoke was carried) (see 13.10 below);

(d)

in exercise of a right of reply (see 13.9 below);

(e)

on a point of order (see 13.13 below); and

(f)

by way of personal explanation (see 13.14 below).

Page 61

13.6

Amendments to Motions
(a)

An amendment to a motion must be relevant to the motion and will
either be:
(i)

to refer the matter to an appropriate body or individual for
consideration or reconsideration;

(ii)

to leave out words;

(iii)

to leave out words and insert or add others; or

(iv)

to insert or add words.

as long as the effect of (ii) to (iv) is not to negate the motion.

13.7

(b)

Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any one time.
No further amendment may be moved until the amendment under
discussion has been disposed of. A Member may, however, give
notice of a further amendment (see, however, 13.7(c) below).

(c)

The Chairman may permit two or more amendments to be discussed
together if this is likely to help the proper conduct of the business BUT
each amendment must be voted on separately.

(d)

If an amendment is not carried, other amendments to the original
motion may be moved.

(e)

If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended takes the place of
the original motion. This becomes the substantive motion to which any
further amendments are moved.

(f)

After an amendment has been carried, the chairman will read out the
amended motion before accepting any further amendments, or if there
are none, put it to the vote.

Alteration of Motion
(a)

A Member may when moving a motion of which she/he has given
notice alter it with the consent of the meeting and the other signatories.
The meeting’s consent will be signified without discussion.

(b)

A Member may alter a motion which s/he has moved without notice
with the consent of both the meeting and the seconder. The meeting’s
consent will be signified without discussion.

(c)

Only alterations which could be made as an amendment may be made.

Page 62

13.8

Withdrawal of Motion
A Member may withdraw a motion which s/he has moved with the consent of
both the meeting and the seconder. The meeting’s consent will be signified
without discussion. No Member may speak on the motion after the mover has
asked permission to withdraw it unless permission is refused.

13.9

Right of Reply – Proposer of Motion Only
The mover of a motion has a right to reply at the end of the debate on the
motion, immediately before it is put to the vote.

13.10 Right of Reply – Upon Amendment to Motion
At the end of a debate on an amendment to a motion the order in which
Members may speak is as follows:
(a)

the mover of the amendment may respond to comments made during
the debate;

(b)

the Chairman of the relevant Committee or Leader or appropriate
Cabinet (Executive) Member, if that Member has not already spoken in
the debate otherwise than in accordance with Rule 13(12) and 13(13);
the mover of the original motion who shall not otherwise speak on the
amendment.

(c)

NB

Other than as provided for at (i) above the mover of an amendment has
no right of reply.

13.11 Motions Which May be Moved During Debate
When a motion is under debate, no other motion may be moved except the
following procedural motions:
(a)

to withdraw a motion;

(b)

to amend a motion;

(c)

to proceed to the next business;

(d)

that the question be now put;

(e)

to adjourn a debate;

(f)

to adjourn a meeting;

(g)

that the meeting become a Committee of the Council;

(h)

that the meeting of the Council be resumed;

Page 63

(i)

to exclude the public and Press in accordance with the Access to
Information Rules; and

(j)

to not hear further a Member named under Rule 19.3 or to exclude
them from the meeting under Rule 19.4.

Page 64

